Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: March 8, 2023 ACCEPTED: April 26, 2023 PUBLISHED: May 8, 2023

Timelike entanglement entropy

Kazuki Doi,^{*a*} Jonathan Harper,^{*a*} Ali Mollabashi,^{*a*} Tadashi Takayanagi^{*a,b,c*} and Yusuke Taki^{*a*}

^bInamori Research Institute for Science,

620 Suiginya-cho, Shimogyo-ku, Kyoto 600-8411, Japan

^cKavli Institute for the Physics and Mathematics of the Universe (WPI), University of Tokyo, Kashiwa, Chiba 277-8582, Japan

E-mail: kazuki.doi@yukawa.kyoto-u.ac.jp, jonathan.harper@yukawa.kyoto-u.ac.jp, ali.mollabashi@yukawa.kyoto-u.ac.jp, takayana@yukawa.kyoto-u.ac.jp, yusuke.taki@yukawa.kyoto-u.ac.jp

ABSTRACT: We define a new complex-valued measure of information called the timelike entanglement entropy (EE) which in the boundary theory can be viewed as a Wick rotation that changes a spacelike boundary subregion to a timelike one. An explicit definition of the timelike EE in 2d field theories is provided followed by numerical computations which agree with the analytic continuation of the replica method for CFTs. We argue that timelike EE should be correctly interpreted as another measure previously considered, the pseudo entropy, which is the von Neumann entropy of a reduced transition matrix. Our results strongly imply that the imaginary part of the pseudo entropy describes an emergent time which generalizes the notion of an emergent space from quantum entanglement. For holographic systems we define the timelike EE as the total complex valued area of a particular stationary combination of both space and timelike extremal surfaces which are homologous to the boundary region. For the examples considered we find explicit matching of our optimization procedure and the careful implementation of the Wick rotation in the boundary CFT. We also make progress on higher dimensional generalizations and relations to holographic pseudo entropy in de Sitter space.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Models of Quantum Gravity

ARXIV EPRINT: 2302.11695



^a Center for Gravitational Physics, Yukawa Institute for Theoretical Physics, Kyoto University, Kitashirakawa Oiwakecho, Sakyo-ku, Kyoto 606-8502, Japan

Contents

1	Introduction			2
2	Timelike entanglement entropy in QFT			4
	2.1	Definition via the replica method		4
	2.2	Another equivalent definition via Wick rotation of coordinates		6
	2.3	Timel	ike entanglement entropy of Dirac fermion on a torus	8
	2.4	Numerical method		10
3	Hol	ograpł	nic timelike entanglement entropy in $\mathrm{AdS}_3/\mathrm{CFT}_2$	16
	3.1	1 Pure AdS_3		16
	3.2	2 Comments on extreme surfaces in AdS_3		18
	3.3	BTZ black hole		20
		3.3.1	Single interval	22
		3.3.2	Timelike mutual information	24
		3.3.3	Timelike thermofield mutual information	27
		3.3.4	The necessity of timelike entanglement entropy in thermofield double	
			state	29
	3.4	4 BTZ with shock wave		30
	3.5	Timelike EE under local quench in thermofield double state from the CFT		34
	3.6	Rotating BTZ		36
4	Holographic timelike entanglement entropy in $\mathrm{AdS}_{d+1}/\mathrm{CFT}_d$			3 8
	4.1	Hyper	bolic subsystem	38
		4.1.1	Wick rotation	38
		4.1.2	Extremal surface	39
		4.1.3	Global coordinate	41
	4.2	Strip s	subsystem	42
5	Holographic pseudo entropy in dS/CFT			44
	5.1	Holographic pseudo entropy in dS_3/CFT_2		45
	5.2	Relation to timelike entanglement entropy		48
	5.3	Higher dimensions		50
6	Con	clusio	ns and discussions	53
\mathbf{A}	\mathbf{Cal}	culatio	on of thermofield mutual information for holographic CFTs	55

1 Introduction

The AdS/CFT correspondence [1] tells us that a space coordinate in an anti-de Sitter (AdS) spacetime can emerge from a conformal field theory (CFT). The mechanism of this emergent space can be described quantitatively by considering the holographic entanglement entropy (HEE) [2–4]. Specifically the entanglement entropy (EE) in a CFT is computed from the area of an extremal surface in AdS. The entanglement entropy S_A for a subsystem A is defined by

$$S_A = -\operatorname{Tr}_A[\rho_A \log \rho_A]. \tag{1.1}$$

 ρ_A is the reduced density matrix obtained by tracing out the complement B of A:

$$\rho_A = \text{Tr}_B \rho_{\text{tot}},\tag{1.2}$$

where ρ_{tot} is the density matrix for the total system and the total Hilbert space is assumed to factorize as $\mathcal{H}_{\text{tot}} = \mathcal{H}_A \otimes \mathcal{H}_B$. The holographic entanglement entropy computes S_A from the area of an extremeal surface by

$$S_A = \frac{\operatorname{Area}(\Gamma_A)}{4G_N}.$$
(1.3)

This relation leads to the remarkable idea that the space coordinate in an AdS emerges from quantum entanglement [5, 6]. This raises a natural question: can the time coordinate also emerge from some quantum information theoretic property? To make progress in this problem, we first need to find a quantity which is directly related to the emergence of the time coordinate. Motivated by this, the main purpose of this paper is to introduce a new quantity called timelike entanglement entropy (timelike EE) and to study its properties.¹ The timelike EE $S_A^{(T)}$ is defined by analytically continuing the standard EE to the case where the subsystem A is a timelike region. Indeed, in the AdS/CFT correspondence, the imaginary part of this quantity is related to the area of a timelike extremal surface, providing a generalization of (1.3), as depicted in left panel of figure 1. A part of these new results was briefly reported in the letter article [16], focusing on a few simple setups of AdS₃/CFT₂. Refer to [17–19] for independent works on timelike EE and see also [20–23]. In this full paper, we will present more general results of timelike EE in various setups of AdS/CFT.

Moreover, in the context of dS/CFT [24], we can also see that the holographic entanglement entropy has contributions from timelike extremal surfaces in addition to a spacelike surface as depicted in the right panel of figure 1. Holography in de Sitter space (dS), so called the dS/CFT correspondence [24] argues that gravity on a de Sitter space is dual to a Euclidean CFT on its future infinity. In this holography, as opposed to AdS/CFT, the time coordinate emerges from the Euclidean CFT. Such a Euclidean CFT is expected to be exotic and non-unitary. A limited number of examples of CFTs dual to de Sitter spaces have been found in four dimensional higher spin gravity [25], in three dimensional Einstein

¹Refer to [7–15], for other ideas on how to study quantum entanglement in timelike setups.



Figure 1. Holographic Timelike Entanglement Entropy in AdS_3/CFT_2 (left) and Holographic Pseudo entropy in dS_3/CFT_2 (right). The green curves and red curves describe the spacelike and timelike geodesic, whose lengths give the real and imaginary part of the entropy. Each of blue intervals is the subsystem A.

gravity [26, 27] and in two dimensions [28, 29]. Since there is no spacelike geodesic between two distinct points on the dS boundary at future infinity, the holographic entropy becomes complex-valued [27, 30–34].

We point out that both the timelike entanglement entropy and the complex-valued holographic entropy in dS/CFT, can properly be interpreted as pseudo entropy, introduced in [35]. Pseudo entropy is defined as follows. Decomposing the total Hilbert space into those of subsystems A and B, we introduce the reduced transition matrix for two pure states $|\psi\rangle$ and $|\varphi\rangle$, by

$$\tau_A = \operatorname{Tr}_B\left[\frac{|\psi\rangle\langle\varphi|}{\langle\varphi|\psi\rangle}\right].$$
(1.4)

Finally, pseudo entropy $S_A^{(\mathrm{P})}$ is defined by

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{P})} = -\mathrm{Tr}[\tau_A \log \tau_A]. \tag{1.5}$$

Remarkably, in Euclidean time-dependent asymptotically AdS spaces, the pseudo entropy is related to the minimal surface area in the same formula as (1.3). See [20–22, 36–52] for further related developments. Indeed, in both the timelike EE and the EE in dS/CFT, the reduced density matrices are not Hermitian and thus are not standard von Neumann entropies, but rather pseudo entropies instead.

This paper is organized as follows. In section 2, we define the timelike entanglement entropy and analyize it in quantum field theories. In section 3, we will show how to calculate the timelike entanglement entropy in AdS/CFT and evaluate it in various examples. In section 4, we study the holographic calculation of timelike entanglement entropy in higher dimensional AdS/CFT. In section 5, we discuss holographic pseudo entropy in dS/CFT. Finally in section 6, we summarize our conclusions and discuss future problems. Appendix A contains a derivation of the thermofield mutual information for 2d holographic CFTs.



Figure 2. Definition of standard entanglement entropy (left) and timelike entanglement entropy (right) in two dimensional field theories.

2 Timelike entanglement entropy in QFT

In this section we explain the definition of timelike entanglement entropy and present calculations of this quantity in conformal field theories.

2.1 Definition via the replica method

Consider a two dimensional quantum field theory in a flat spacetime whose time and space coordinate are denoted by (t, x). We first define the timelike entanglement entropy in this two dimensional case and will later generalize to higher dimensions. In the standard definition of entanglement entropy S_A we choose the subsystem A to be a spacelike region in order to specify the Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_A as in the left panel of figure 2. The timelike entanglement entropy is defined by analytically continuing the entanglement entropy to a timelike subsystem A as in the right panel of figure 2, which we write as $S_A^{(T)}$.

To see this procedure explicitly, consider the replica method computation of entanglement entropy [53]. We assume subsystem A is given by a spacelike interval $A = I_{PQ}$, where the two end points are situated at $P = (t_P, x_P)$ and $Q = (t_Q, x_Q)$. The Renyi entanglement entropy $S_A^{(n)} = \frac{1}{1-n} \log \operatorname{Tr}(\rho_A)^n$ is computed from the two point function of twist operators σ_n and $\bar{\sigma}_n$:

$$S_A^{(n)} = \frac{1}{1-n} \log \langle \sigma_n(P) \bar{\sigma}_n(Q) \rangle = \frac{1}{1-n} \log \left[\left(\frac{\epsilon}{\sqrt{(x_P - x_Q)^2 - (t_P - t_Q)^2}} \right)^{2\Delta_n} \right].$$
 (2.1)

In this equation, $\Delta_n = \frac{c}{12} \left(n - \frac{1}{n} \right)$, where c is the central charge of the two dimensional CFT, is the conformal dimension of the twist operator and ϵ is the UV cutoff. By taking the limit $n \to 1$ of the von Neumann entropy, the entanglement entropy is evaluated to be

$$S_A = S_A^{(1)} = \frac{c}{3} \log \left[\frac{\sqrt{(x_P - x_Q)^2 - (t_P - t_Q)^2}}{\epsilon} \right].$$
 (2.2)

Now the timelike entanglement entropy $S_A^{(T)}$ is defined by continuing the expression (2.2) to the case where the interval A is timelike i.e. $(x_P - x_Q)^2 - (t_P - t_Q)^2 < 0$. This

is evaluated as follows:

$$S_A^{(T)} = \frac{c}{3} \log \left[\frac{\sqrt{(t_P - t_Q)^2 - (x_P - x_Q)^2}}{\epsilon} \right] + \frac{c\pi}{6} i.$$
(2.3)

In particular, when the subsystem A is purely timelike i.e. $x_Q - x_P = 0$ and $t_Q - t_P = T_0$, we find

$$S_A^{(T)} = \frac{c}{3} \log \frac{T_0}{\epsilon} + \frac{c\pi}{6}i.$$
 (2.4)

It is straightforward to generalize this to $S_A^{(T)}$ in a finite size CFT and $S_A^{(T)}$ in a finite temperature CFT. For a CFT on a circle with a circumference R (at zero temperature), the entanglement entropy for a boosted subsystem A is given by

$$S_A = \frac{c}{6} \log \left[\frac{R^2}{\pi^2 \epsilon^2} \sin \left(\frac{\pi}{R} (\Delta \phi + \Delta t) \right) \sin \left(\frac{\pi}{R} (\Delta \phi - \Delta t) \right) \right].$$
(2.5)

In a similar fashion, the timelike entanglement entropy is defined by continuing A to be timelike $\Delta \phi - \Delta t < 0$, then

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c}{6} \log \left[\frac{R^2}{\pi^2 \epsilon^2} \sin \left(\frac{\pi}{R} (\Delta t + \Delta \phi) \right) \sin \left(\frac{\pi}{R} (\Delta t - \Delta \phi) \right) \right] + \frac{i\pi c}{6}.$$
 (2.6)

In particular, when A is purely timelike $\Delta \phi = 0$, $\Delta t = T_0$, we have

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c}{3} \log\left[\frac{R}{\pi\epsilon} \sin\frac{\pi T_0}{R}\right] + \frac{i\pi c}{6}.$$
 (2.7)

On the other hand, for a CFT at temperature $1/\beta$ (on an infinite line), the entanglement entropy is given by

$$S_A = \frac{c}{6} \log \left[\frac{\beta^2}{\pi^2 \epsilon^2} \sinh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (\Delta x + \Delta t) \right) \sinh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (\Delta x - \Delta t) \right) \right].$$
(2.8)

Therefore the timelike entanglement entropy is

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c}{6} \log \left[\frac{\beta^2}{\pi^2 \epsilon^2} \sinh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (\Delta t + \Delta x) \right) \sinh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (\Delta t - \Delta x) \right) \right] + \frac{i\pi c}{6}, \quad (2.9)$$

and particularly

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c}{3} \log \left[\frac{\beta}{\pi \epsilon} \sinh \frac{\pi T_0}{\beta} \right] + \frac{i\pi c}{6}.$$
 (2.10)

when A is purely timelike. Note that these basically take the form of the standard entanglement entropy plus $\frac{i\pi}{6}$.

We can also define timelike EE in higher dimensions in a similar way: we start from the EE for a spacelike subsystem and boosting the subsystem with an analytic continuation until it becomes timelike.

2.2 Another equivalent definition via Wick rotation of coordinates

We can define the timelike entanglement entropy in another way, which is useful for numerical calculations. For simplicity, consider a free scalar field theory with mass m on a cylinder, where the space and time coordinate are again denoted by x and t. The spacelike direction is compactified as $x \sim x + R$. The action of the scalar field reads

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int dt dx \left[(\partial_t \phi)^2 - (\partial_x \phi)^2 - m^2 \phi^2 \right].$$
 (2.11)

The total partition function on the Lorentzian spacetime looks like

$$Z_{\phi} = \int D\phi e^{iS}.$$
 (2.12)

However, let us regard t as the "space" direction and x as the Euclidean time, such that $ix(\equiv -T)$ is the real time, by rotating the spacetime by ninety degree, as depicted in figure 3. The "Hamiltonian" H reads

$$H = -\frac{i}{2} \int dt \left[\pi^2 + (\partial_t \phi)^2 - m^2 \phi^2 \right], \qquad (2.13)$$

where

$$\pi = -\partial_x \phi, \tag{2.14}$$

is the canonical momentum such that the commutation relation is

$$[\phi(t), \pi(t')] = i\delta(t - t').$$
(2.15)

To see this, by introducing the real time T related to the Euclidean time x via x = iT, we can rewrite the action (2.11) as follows

$$S = \frac{i}{2} \int dT dt \left[(\partial_T \phi)^2 + (\partial_t \phi)^2 - m^2 \phi^2 \right].$$
 (2.16)

Then the momentum conjugate to ϕ , defined by $\pi = \frac{\delta S}{\delta(\partial_T \phi)}$, is found to be (2.14). The Hamiltonian is also canonically defined as $H = \frac{\delta L}{\delta(\partial_T \phi)} (\partial_T \phi) - L$, where $L = \frac{i}{2} \int dt [(\partial_T \phi)^2 + (\partial_t \phi)^2 - m^2 \phi^2]$ is the Lagrangian of S. This leads to (2.16).

In this formulation, regarding t as a spatial coordinate and x as the Euclidean time with a periodicity R, the partition function

$$Z_{\phi} = \operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{-RH}\right],\tag{2.17}$$

where H is the timelike Hamiltonian (2.13), can be rewritten as

$$Z_{\phi} = \operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{iR\tilde{H}}\right],\tag{2.18}$$

using the rescaled Hamiltonian $\tilde{H} = iH$, which takes the conventional form with a minus sign for the mass term:

$$\tilde{H} = \frac{1}{2} \int dt \left[\pi^2 + (\partial_t \phi)^2 - m^2 \phi^2 \right].$$
(2.19)



Figure 3. Timelike entanglement entropy via a Wick rotation of coordinates.

By tracing out the region B, the reduced density matrix ρ_A is now given by

$$o_A = \operatorname{Tr}_B[e^{iRH}]. \tag{2.20}$$

Therefore, we can obtain the timelike EE from the ordinary EE of a spacelike subsystem at finite temperature $1/\beta_S$ by the transformation:

$$\beta_S \to -iR, \quad m \to -im.$$
 (2.21)

In the massless limit m = 0, the transformation above acts purely on β_S and thus we expect this is universal for any two dimensional CFTs.

The entanglement entropy for the thermal state at temperature $1/\beta_S$ is known to be given by [53]:

$$S_A = \frac{c}{3} \log \left[\frac{\beta_S}{\pi \tilde{\epsilon}} \sinh \frac{\pi X}{\beta_S} \right], \qquad (2.22)$$

where X is the length of the spacelike interval A. Note that the energy cutoff $\tilde{\epsilon}$ is defined for \tilde{H} , so it is related as $\tilde{\epsilon} = -i\epsilon$ to ϵ defined for the Hamiltonian H we are interested in. Thus by applying (2.21) and setting $X = T_0$, we obtain the timelike EE:

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c}{3} \log\left[\frac{R}{\pi\epsilon} \sin\frac{\pi T_0}{R}\right] + \frac{i\pi c}{6}.$$
 (2.23)

This indeed reproduces our previous result for a CFT on a circle from the replica method (2.7). By taking the limit $R \to \infty$ we can also derive the decompactified result (2.4).

We can also consider a compactification in t direction to compute the timelike EE at a finite temperature, where we do not compactify x coordinate. For the temperature $1/\beta$ we compactify t as $t \sim t - i\beta$ so that the periodicity of the Euclidean time it is β . Remember that the ordinary EE for a spacelike interval A on a circle with the circumference R_S reads

$$S_A = \frac{c}{3} \log \left[\frac{R_S}{\pi \tilde{\epsilon}} \sin \left(\frac{\pi X}{R_S} \right) \right].$$
 (2.24)

To obtain the timelike EE at finite temperature, we identify $R_S = -i\beta$ and $\tilde{\epsilon} = -i\epsilon$ as we explained. This perfectly reproduce our previous result (2.10) based on the replica method.

It is important to note that the reduced density matrix (2.20) for our timelike EE is not hermitian as opposed to the case of standard EE defined for a spacelike subsystem A. This shows that the timelike entanglement entropy can properly be regarded as a special example of pseudo entropy [35]. More explicitly, we can see this by a purification procedure as follows. Consider a thermofield double-like description by doubling the total Hilbert space and by introducing the following two states

$$|\Psi\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{Z(\delta)}} \sum_{n} e^{i(R+i\delta)E_n/2} |n\rangle_1 |n\rangle_2,$$

$$|\Psi^*\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{Z(\delta)}} \sum_{n} e^{-i(R-i\delta)E_n/2} |n\rangle_1 |n\rangle_2,$$
(2.25)

where δ is an infinitesimally small regularization parameter; E_n and $|n\rangle$ are the eigenvalues and eigenstates of \tilde{H} . They satisfy

$$\operatorname{Tr}_2|\Psi\rangle\langle\Psi^*| = e^{i(R+i\delta)\tilde{H}}.$$
(2.26)

By tracing out *B* further, this is identical to the reduced density matrix ρ_A in (2.20). In this way, we can rewrite the timelike EE in terms of a transition matrix which shows that the timelike EE is an example of pseudo entropy. It is curious to note that such a thermofield double state at an imaginary temperature was introduced in [54] to find a holographic interpretation of de Sitter space in terms of the CFT on the future infinity and the other one on the past one.

As we have seen in this subsection, we have two prescriptions to calculate the timelike EE: the Wick rotations of (i) the interval A and of (ii) the coordinates (t, x). In the remainder of this section, we will investigate the timelike entanglement entropy in the various models by adopting a suitable prescription. It is also useful to note that the higher dimensional generalization is straightforward just by adding extra coordinates y^i to the arguments above.

2.3 Timelike entanglement entropy of Dirac fermion on a torus

As our next example, we would like to analyze a finite temperature state of a two dimensional CFT on a circle. In this case we cannot use the conformal mapping method to obtain a universal result for the entanglement entropy. Thus, we focus on the c = 1 Dirac fermion CFT, whose entanglement entropy was first computed in [55]. We consider this CFT on a torus and choose the subsystem A to be an interval A = PQ, where P = (0,0)and $Q = (z, \bar{z})$. The periodicity of the Euclidean time Imz and the spatial coordinate Rez are set to be β_S and $R_S = 1$, respectively. We assume the NS-sector spin structure. The two point function of twist operator reads

$$\langle \sigma_k(z,\bar{z})\sigma_{-k}(0,0)\rangle = \left(\frac{4\pi^2\eta(\tau)^2}{\theta_1(z|\tau)\theta_1(\bar{z}|\bar{\tau})}\right)^{2\Delta_k} \cdot \frac{\theta_3\left(\frac{k}{N}z|\tau\right)\theta_3\left(\frac{k}{N}\bar{z}|\bar{\tau}\right)}{\theta_3(\tau)^2},\tag{2.27}$$

where $\theta_3(\nu|\tau)$, $\theta_1(\nu|\tau)$ and $\eta(\tau)$ are standard theta and eta functions. We take z = L + Tand $\bar{z} = L - T$. In the spacelike limit T = 0, i.e. $(z, \bar{z}) = (L, L)$, the entanglement entropy in the high temperature expansion reads [55]

$$S_{A} = \frac{1}{3} \log \left[\frac{\beta_{S}}{\pi \epsilon} \sinh \left(\frac{\pi L}{\beta_{S}} \right) \right] + \frac{1}{3} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \log \left[\frac{\left(1 - e^{\frac{2\pi L}{\beta_{S}}} e^{-2\pi R_{S}} \frac{m}{\beta_{S}} \right) \left(1 - e^{-\frac{2\pi L}{\beta_{S}}} e^{-2\pi R_{S}} \frac{m}{\beta_{S}} \right)^{2}}{\left(1 - e^{-2\pi R_{S}} \frac{m}{\beta_{S}} \right)^{2}} \right] + 2 \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \frac{\left(-1 \right)^{l}}{l} \cdot \frac{\frac{\pi L l}{\beta_{S}} \coth \left(\frac{\pi L l}{\beta_{S}} \right) - 1}{\sinh \frac{\pi R_{S} l}{\beta_{S}}}, \qquad (2.28)$$

where $R_S = 1$ is the periodicity of the Re z direction. In the low temperature expansion, this is equivalently written as follows [55]

$$S_{A} = \frac{1}{3} \log \left[\frac{1}{\pi \epsilon} \sin \left(\pi L \right) \right] + \frac{1}{3} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \log \left[\frac{(1 - e^{2\pi i L} e^{-2\pi \beta_{S} m})(1 - e^{-2\pi i L} e^{-2\pi \beta_{S} m})}{(1 - e^{-2\pi \beta_{S} m})^{2}} \right] + 2 \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{l}}{l} \cdot \frac{\pi L l \beta_{S} \cot \left(\pi L l \right) - 1}{\sinh \pi l \beta_{S}}.$$
(2.29)

In the timelike limit, i.e. $(z, \overline{z}) = (T, -T)$, we find

$$\begin{split} S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} &= \frac{1}{3} \log \left[\frac{\beta}{\pi \epsilon} \sinh \left(\frac{\pi T}{\beta} \right) \right] + \frac{\pi}{6} i \\ &+ \frac{1}{3} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \log \left[\frac{\left(1 - e^{\frac{2\pi T}{\beta}} e^{-2\pi \frac{m}{\beta}} \right) \left(1 - e^{-\frac{2\pi T}{\beta}} e^{-2\pi \frac{m}{\beta}} \right)}{\left(1 - e^{-2\pi \frac{m}{\beta}} \right)^2} \right] + 2 \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^l}{l} \cdot \frac{\frac{\pi T l}{\beta} \coth \left(\frac{\pi T l}{\beta} \right) - 1}{\sinh \frac{\pi l}{\beta}}, \end{split}$$

$$(2.30)$$

where we set $\beta_S = \beta$.

Thus the only difference from the standard EE is again just the imaginary part $\frac{\pi c}{6}i$ in this torus calculation. To see this note that $\theta_1(z|\tau)$ and $\theta_3(z|\tau)$ are odd and even function w.r.t. z, respectively. Note also that this timelike EE is oscillating with the periodicity 2π under the T evolution.

The other definition of timelike EE, which Wick rotates the whole spacetime, is argued to give the identical result (2.30). We can confirm this as follows. As we learned in section 2.2, the timelike EE is related to the standard spacelike EE via the double Wick rotation:

$$S_A^{(T)}(R,\beta,T) = S_A(R_S,\beta_S,L) + \frac{\pi c}{6}i,$$
(2.31)

with the identification

$$(R_S, \beta_S, L) = (-i\beta, -iR, T),$$
 (2.32)

where β and R(=1) are the inverse temperature and the periodicity in x for the timelike EE, respectively. By applying this relation (2.31) to (2.28) we obtain the following expression of timelike EE:

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{1}{3} \log \left[\frac{1}{\pi \epsilon} \sin \left(\pi T \right) \right] + \frac{1}{3} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \log \left[\frac{(1 - e^{2\pi i T} e^{-2\pi \beta m})(1 - e^{-2\pi i T} e^{-2\pi \beta m})}{(1 - e^{-2\pi \beta m})^2} \right] + 2 \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^l}{l} \cdot \frac{\pi T l\beta \cot \left(\pi T l \right) - 1}{\sinh \pi l\beta} + \frac{\pi c}{6} i.$$
(2.33)

As the low temperature expansion of (2.28) is given by (2.29), we can show that the result above (2.33) indeed agrees with the timelike EE from the Wick rotation of the interval itself (2.30).

2.4 Numerical method

Free scalar theory. In this part we adapt the correlator method [56, 57] to the Hamiltonian we have introduced in equation (2.13) in order to compute timelike EE numerically. To do so we need to be more precise about how we have defined equation (2.13). In the ordinary free scalar theory (the vertical cylinder in figure 3), the mode expansion of the field is given by

$$\phi(\mathbf{x},t) = \int \frac{d^d k}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega_{\mathbf{k}}}} \left(a_{\mathbf{k}} e^{-i\omega_{\mathbf{k}}t} + a^{\dagger}_{-\mathbf{k}} e^{i\omega_{\mathbf{k}}t} \right) e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}} , \qquad (2.34)$$

where $\omega_{\mathbf{k}}^2 = |\mathbf{k}|^2 + m^2$. In our conventions we denote the original spatial coordinate x to play the role of Euclidean time and the rest (d-1) spatial coordinates with \mathbf{y} . Using this expansion one can find the correlation functions which lead to the expected results for timelike entanglement, but we will not proceed in this way to use the field expansion corresponding to the vertical cylinder. We rather considered the viewpoint of the right horizontal cylinder in figure 3, where T = -ix plays the role of Lorentzian time. Within this point of view, we may define the scalar theory defined via (2.16) or equivalently in the Hamiltonian formalism. The Hamiltonian in (d + 1) dimensions is given by

$$H = -\frac{i}{2} \int dt d\mathbf{y} \left[\pi^2 + (\partial_t \phi)^2 - (\nabla_y \phi)^2 - m^2 \phi^2 \right] \,. \tag{2.35}$$

Using the Hamiltonian equations of motion

$$\partial_T \phi = \frac{\delta H}{\delta \pi}, \qquad -\partial_T \pi = \frac{\delta H}{\delta \phi}$$
(2.36)

we find that $\pi = -\partial_x \phi$ and

$$(\partial_t^2 - \partial_x^2 - \nabla_y^2 + m^2)\phi = 0$$
(2.37)

Now considering a decomposed notation for the momenta as $\mathbf{k} = (k, \mathbf{k}_y)$ where \mathbf{k} corresponds to the momenta of (t, \mathbf{y}) and we consider

$$\phi(t, x, \mathbf{y}) = \int \frac{d^{d-1}k_y \, dk}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} \phi(k, x, \mathbf{k}_y) e^{-ikt + i\mathbf{k}_y \cdot \mathbf{y}}$$
(2.38)

which leads to

$$\left(\partial_x^2 + \Omega_{\mathbf{k}}^2\right)\phi(k, x, \mathbf{k}_y) = 0 , \qquad (2.39)$$

where $\Omega_{\mathbf{k}} = \sqrt{k^2 - |\mathbf{k}_y|^2 - m^2}$. Following the standard procedure in Klein-Gordon theory based on the similarity between this equation and harmonic oscillator equation of motion,

we consider the following Fourier expansions

$$\phi(t, \mathbf{y}) = \int \frac{d^{d-1}k_y \, dk}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\Omega_{\mathbf{k}}}} \left(a_{\mathbf{k}} + a_{-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \right) e^{-ikt + i\mathbf{k}_y \cdot \mathbf{y}} ,$$

$$\pi(t, \mathbf{y}) = -i \int \frac{d^{d-1}k_y \, dk}{(2\pi)^{d/2}} \sqrt{\frac{\Omega_{\mathbf{k}}}{2}} \left(a_{\mathbf{k}} - a_{-\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} \right) e^{-ikt + i\mathbf{k}_y \cdot \mathbf{y}} .$$
 (2.40)

With these expressions one can check that assuming the standard commutation relations between the creation and annihilation operators, the canonical commutation relations are preserved and the Hamiltonian is diagonalized up to a constant as

$$H = -i \int d^{d-1}k_y \, dk \, \Omega_{\mathbf{k}} \, a_{\mathbf{k}}^{\dagger} a_{\mathbf{k}} \tag{2.41}$$

where the structure of the dispersion relation is as expected from the form of equation (2.35), namely the sign of the *y*-direction derivatives and the mass term are opposite to the Hamiltonian in standard Lorentzian theory.

Now we are equipped with what we need to calculate timelike entanglement entropy. We consider the d = 1 case in this paper. In order to find the correct prescription of the correlator method to compute timelike EE, it is enough to focus on a single mode contribution to the correlations functions. Tracing over the x direction is the nontrivial part where we have to introduce a cut-off to sum the geometric series of the form

$$\sum_{n} e^{iR\,\Omega_k\,n} f(n) \quad \longrightarrow \quad \sum_{n} e^{i(R+i\delta)\,\Omega_k\,n} f(n) = \sum_{n} e^{-(R+i\delta)\,\Omega_{ik}\,n} f(n).$$

In the case that the *t*-direction is an infinite line, namely $\beta \to \infty$, we consider a straight line along *t* as the entangling region. All we need to find is the correlation matrix that which its non-trivial elements are given by²

$$\Phi_{tt'} \equiv \operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{i(R+i\delta)\tilde{H}}\phi(t)\phi(t')\right] = \int \frac{dk}{2\pi} \frac{i}{2\Omega_{ik}} \operatorname{coth}\left(\frac{(R+i\delta)\Omega_{ik}}{2}\right) e^{ik(t-t')},$$

$$\Pi_{tt'} \equiv \operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{i(R+i\delta)\tilde{H}}\pi(t)\pi(t')\right] = \int \frac{dk}{2\pi} \frac{\Omega_{ik}}{2i} \operatorname{coth}\left(\frac{(R+i\delta)\Omega_{ik}}{2}\right) e^{ik(t-t')}.$$
(2.43)

For CFT case in the continuum, one can simply verify that $\Omega_{ik} = i\omega_k$. While this is not true on the lattice, we introduce the aforementioned expressions for the correlators as the correct prescription to calculate timelike EE. To numerically work out the timelike EE we consider the discrete version on this infinite lattice, i.e. we integrate over $-\pi < k < \pi$

$$\Phi_{xx'} \equiv \operatorname{Tr} \left[e^{-\beta_S H} \phi(x) \phi(x') \right] = \int \frac{dk}{2\pi} \frac{1}{2\omega_k} \operatorname{coth} \left(\frac{\beta_S \omega_k}{2} \right) e^{ik(x-x')},$$

$$\Pi_{xx'} \equiv \operatorname{Tr} \left[e^{-\beta_S H} \pi(x) \pi(x') \right] = \int \frac{dk}{2\pi} \frac{\omega_k}{2} \operatorname{coth} \left(\frac{\beta_S \omega_k}{2} \right) e^{ik(x-x')}.$$
(2.42)

 $^{^{2}}$ It is worth reminding the reader the correlators relevant to calculate standard EE in finite temperature case



Figure 4. Timelike entanglement for free scalar theory for a connected region. The *t*-direction is infinite and the *x*-direction is compactified as $x \sim x + R$ and we also put the regulator δ . The left panel where the data of different color lie on the top of each other corresponds to fixed R and different δ . As expected modulo some numerical defects for large sugherions the timelike EE does not depend on the ratio of R/δ . The right panel is showing results for different R with fixed R/δ . The structure of the fit function perfectly matches with our analytic expectation. As R is increasing larger subregions are considered and the difference of data sets is encoded in different UV cut-offs which is reflected in the constant term in our fit functions.

where t takes integer values and the dispersion relation is $\epsilon^2 \Omega_k^2 = 4 \sin^2(\frac{k}{2}) - (m \epsilon)^2$. The timelike EE is related to the spectrum of the operator $\sqrt{\Phi \cdot \Pi}$ shown by $\{\mu\}$ via

$$S_{A}^{(\mathrm{T})} = \sum_{i} \left[\left(\mu_{i} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \log \left(\mu_{i} + \frac{1}{2} \right) - \left(\mu_{i} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \log \left(\mu_{i} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \right]$$
(2.44)

In figure 4 we show the numerical results corresponding to the case where $\beta \to \infty$. Our results are capturing the expected periodic behavior for timelike EE. It is worth noting that although the real part of the timelike EE is similar to the standard EE on a compact space (2.7), the structure of the periodicity of the standard EE and timelike EE on the compactified space direction are of completely different origin. In standard EE the periodicity of entropy is inherited from the periodicity of the fields which is reflected in the corresponding correlators as on a compact space we have to consider the replacement $e^{ik(x-x')} \to \cos \frac{2\pi k(x-x')}{R}$ in (2.42). The periodicity in the case of timelike EE rather originates in the regulated summation leading to the hyperbolic cotangent in coth the integrands of (2.43).

The other case which we are interested in is the finite temperature case, namely when we consider Euclidean time to be compactified as $t \sim t - i\beta$. In this case one should be careful about the generalization of the (2.43) to the finite temperature case due to imaginary time periodicity. To do so we consider the standard method in thermal field theory, i.e. rather than working with imaginary time in real space, we sum over all mirror images in the Fourier space (considering the momentum k to be held as a continuous variable)

$$\Phi_{tt'} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \frac{dk}{2\pi} \frac{i}{2\Omega_{ik}} \coth\left(\frac{(R+i\delta)\,\Omega_{ik}}{2}\right) \, e^{ik(t-t'-in\beta)}\,,\tag{2.45}$$

and similarly for $\Pi_{tt'}$. When n and k have the same sign, this integral diverges and we need to regularize it. Here we regularize these correlators by simply excluding the aforementioned



Figure 5. Timelike EE for free scalar theory for a connected region. We consider t to be compactified as $t \sim t - i\beta$ and $R = \infty$. The data points correspond to different values for β and the solid curves are fitting functions up to an irrelevant constant of the form $a \log \left(\frac{\beta}{\pi\epsilon} \sinh \frac{\pi T_0}{\beta}\right)$ which lead to a = 0.324, a = 0.367, and a = 0.376 decreasing the temperature.

cases that cause the divergence, namely those cases where n and k have the same sign. Doing so one arrives at

$$\Phi_{tt'} \stackrel{\text{reg}}{=} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \frac{dk}{2\pi} \frac{i}{2\Omega_{ik}} \coth\left(\frac{(R+i\delta)\,\Omega_{ik}}{2}\right) \frac{1}{1-e^{-|k|\beta}} \, e^{ik(t-t')}\,,\tag{2.46}$$

with a similar expression for conjugate momenta correlations. In figure 5 we have presented the result of using this regularization for the case that $R \gg \beta$. The real part perfectly agrees with our expectation from analytical results.³ One can see the expected behavior of (2.10) with reasonable values for the prefactor reported in the caption. In the $R \gg \beta$ regime one can even do better after approximating the coth part in the integrand by unity and analytically performing the integrals which again need a regularization prescription. We avoid to present these results since they are not more illuminating than what is presented in figure 5.

As figure 4 and figure 5 are showing the real part of timelike EE, a reasonable question is whether our numerical method can also confirm the constant imaginary part as well. Numerically finding the imaginary part is much more challenging than the real part. This is technically due to the difference of the origin of the imaginary part and the real part. The real part, similar to the case of standard EE, gets its dominant contribution from a small number of eigenvalues in (2.44). In other words, the corresponding spectrum contains a huge gap where a very few large eigenvalues contribute dominantly and the rest contribute very slightly. The case is very different for the imaginary part which almost all eigenvalues contribute to this part democratically. So relatively a very high-precision is needed to find the small eigenvalues as precise as possible. Since the integrand of the correlators are rapidly oscillating, this means that we need to increase the cut-off δ to improve the convergence. But physically we need to take $\delta/R \to 0$, as we confirmed this in our results for the real part. So there is a trade-off between getting reasonable physical results and considering larger values of δ to improve the convergence and finding a reliable value for

³Other Dirichlet regularization schemes, such as acting with e^{-n^2} damping function leads to similar results with lower numerical precision.



Figure 6. Here we show the challenge to find the numerical value of the imaginary part of timelike EE. Focusing on the region that the numerical results are stable, namely on smaller subregions in this figure, the data presented in the right panel is strongly suggesting that the imaginary part takes a constant value. As we increase the value of δ , this constant approaches to the expected value $\pi/6$ while in this direction the results become less stable for larger subregions. The stability of the results can be seen from the left panel where we show how the real part depart from the (2.23) behavior. Numerics confirm our analytical expectation value for the imaginary part in the small subregion regime.

the imaginary part. In figure 6 we have shown how this works. From the numerical data one can verify that even in the $\delta \ll R$ regime, which the real part is reliable on the whole *R*-cycle, the imaginary part takes a constant value. We have shown that by increasing δ , we can numerically approach a regime where although $\delta \leq R$, the real part is still reliable for small enough T_0 and the imaginary part in this regime approaches the expected value of $\pi/6$ for the c = 1 scalar theory.

Free Dirac fermion theory. Following a similar procedure to what we did for the scalar theory, we show that the other tractable example with our numerical method Dirac fermion theory also leads to similar results. Using conventions similar to our scalar theory analysis we have

$$S = \int dt dx d\mathbf{y} \,\bar{\psi} \left(i\gamma^0 \partial_t + i\gamma^1 \partial_x + i\gamma^y \cdot \nabla_y - m \right) \psi \,, \tag{2.47}$$

where $\bar{\psi} = \psi^{\dagger} \gamma^{1}$. With the same definition for x = iT we have

$$S = i \int dt dT d\mathbf{y} \,\bar{\psi} \left(i\gamma^0 \partial_t + \gamma^1 \partial_T + i\gamma^y \cdot \nabla_y - m \right) \psi \,, \tag{2.48}$$

where the conjugate momentum is defined as $\pi = i\bar{\psi}\gamma^1$ which leads to the following Hamiltonian

$$H = -i \int dt d\mathbf{y} \,\bar{\psi} \left(i\gamma^0 \partial_t + i\gamma^y \cdot \nabla_y - m \right) \psi \,. \tag{2.49}$$

Now similar to the scalar theory formulation, the partition function is given by

$$Z_{\psi} = \operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{-\beta H}\right] = \operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{i\beta\tilde{H}}\right], \qquad (2.50)$$

where

$$\tilde{H} = \int dt d\mathbf{y} \,\bar{\psi} \left(i\gamma^0 \partial_t + i\gamma^y \cdot \nabla_y - m \right) \psi \,. \tag{2.51}$$

Considering the 2*d* case, using the algebra of gamma matrices and the reduced density matrix defined as $\rho_A = \text{Tr}_A[e^{i\beta\tilde{H}}]$, one can verify that timelike EE is related to ordinary EE via the same analytic continuations considered in equation (2.21)

$$\beta \to -i\beta, \quad m \to -im.$$
 (2.52)

In the rest we focus on the 2d case. We first consider the case where t is defined on an infinite line to calculate timelike EE. In order to explicitly diagonalize the Hamiltonian we chose $\gamma^0 = \sigma_2$ and $\gamma^1 = i\sigma_1$ and we consider the $\psi_k^T = (u_k \ d_k)$ where ψ_k is the Fourier transform of the Dirac field defined as

$$\psi(t) = \int \frac{dk}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \,\psi_k \,e^{ikt} \,. \tag{2.53}$$

Using the following Bogoliubov transformations

$$u_k = \cos \theta_k b_k + i \sin \theta_k b_{-k}^{\dagger} , \qquad d_k = \sin \theta_k b_k - i \cos \theta_k b_{-k}^{\dagger}$$
(2.54)

one can easily check that by choosing

$$\cos 2\theta_k = \frac{k}{\Omega_k} , \qquad \sin 2\theta_k = \frac{im}{\Omega_k} , \qquad \Omega_k^2 = k^2 - m^2$$
 (2.55)

the Hamiltonian (2.49) in 2d is diagonalized as

$$H = i \int dt \,\Omega_k \,\left(b_k^{\dagger} b_k + b_{-k}^{\dagger} b_{-k}\right) \,. \tag{2.56}$$

Again we adopt the correlator method to calculate timelike entanglement entropy in Dirac theory. Applying the same prescription introduced for the scalar field, we need the following correlation functions

$$\mathbf{C}_{tt'} \equiv \langle \psi^{\dagger}(t)\psi(t')\rangle = \operatorname{Tr}\left[e^{i(R+i\delta)\tilde{H}}\psi^{\dagger}(t)\psi(t')\right] = \frac{1}{4\pi}\int dk \tanh\left(\frac{(R+i\delta)\Omega_{ik}}{2}\right) \begin{pmatrix} 1-\cos 2\theta_k & \sin 2\theta_k \\ \sin 2\theta_k & 1+\cos 2\theta_k \end{pmatrix} e^{i(t-t')k} .$$
(2.57)

In order to calculate timelike EE we consider the regularized version of the Hamiltonian on a lattice where the time coordinate takes integer values, except we should replace $k \to \sin k$ in (2.55) and the integration runs over $-\pi < k < \pi$. With these in hand the timelike EE can be read from the spectrum of **C** denoted by $\{\nu\}$ as

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = -\sum_i \left[(1 - \nu_i) \log (1 - \nu_i) + \nu_i \log \nu_i \right] \,. \tag{2.58}$$

The numerical results of the case of finite R and $\beta \to \infty$ are presented in the middle and right panels of figure 7. We have also considered the case of $R \to \infty$ and finite β . In this



Figure 7. Timelike EE of a connected region for the free Dirac fermion theory. The left and the middle panels correspond to the infinite lattice $\beta = \infty$ case. In this case, our numerical results are matching the expected behavior except for the regime where the subregion size approaches R. The numerics in this regime are less stable compared to the scalar case so we cannot probe the $\delta \ll R$ limit stronger than the presented results. The middle panel is showing that for a fixed R as we decrease δ we get closer to the expected result, namely the first term of (2.33). The right panel corresponds to the imaginary time compactified case β and finite R. We show that the expected behavior as like (2.10) is reproduced for the fermion case as well.

case we have applied the same procedure discussed in the scalar case for the imaginary time compactified case. To produce the numerical results presented in the left panel of figure 7, we have used a regularization similar to (2.46).

We have shown that with a careful adaptation of the correlator method to our second definition of timelike EE via Wick rotation of the coordinates, one can numerically find the same results which we have found via the analytic continuation of the replica method in CFT.

3 Holographic timelike entanglement entropy in AdS_3/CFT_2

In the previous section, we introduced the timelike entanglement entropy as a generalization of entanglement entropy. In this section, we will present a holographic calculation of the timelike EE in the framework of the AdS/CFT correspondence. This leads to a generalization of the holographic entanglement entropy formula [2–4].

Below we will study holographic timelike EE in the pure AdS_3 , BTZ black holes and shock wave geometries.

3.1 Pure AdS_3

Consider a two dimensional CFT and choose the timelike subsystem to be an interval A which connects two points: t = -T and t = T at x = 0. From the result (2.4), we expect that this timelike EE is given by

$$S_A = \frac{c}{3}\log\frac{2T}{\epsilon} + \frac{c}{6}\pi i. \tag{3.1}$$

In the dual AdS_3 , we can interpret this by generalizing the holographic entanglement entropy (HEE) as follows. In Poincare AdS_3 coordinates,

$$ds^{2} = \frac{dz^{2} - dt^{2} + dx^{2}}{z^{2}},$$
(3.2)



Figure 8. Sketches of calculation of HEE for a timelike subsystem A.

the geodesic which computes the timelike EE is identified with

$$t = \sqrt{z^2 + T^2},\tag{3.3}$$

by Wick rotating the familiar semi-circle geodesic as depicted in the left panel of figure 8. Indeed the length of this spacelike geodesic reads

$$S_A = \frac{1}{4G_N} \int_{\epsilon}^{\infty} dz \frac{2T}{z\sqrt{z^2 + T^2}} = \frac{c}{3} \log \frac{2T}{\epsilon},$$
 (3.4)

which explains the real part of (3.1). The imaginary part of (3.1) can be found by going beyond the Poincare patch to the global coordinate

$$ds^2 = -\cosh^2 \rho dt + d\rho^2 + \sinh^2 \rho d\theta^2, \qquad (3.5)$$

as sketched in the right panel of figure 8. Since Poincare coordinates only cover the gray region, we need to connect the two endpoints at $\rho = 0$ and $t = \pm \frac{\pi}{2}$ by a timelike geodesic. Since the length is π , this leads to a contribution to the HEE of $\frac{c}{6}\pi i$, which agrees with the imaginary part.

The same result can be found by the geodesic calculation directly in the global AdS₃. The geodesic distance between the two points $(\rho_{\infty}, T_0/2, \phi_0)$ and $(\rho_{\infty}, -T_0/2, \phi_0)$ is found to be

$$D = \cosh^{-1} \left(\cosh^2 \rho_{\infty} \cos T_0 - \sinh^2 \rho_{\infty} \right)$$
$$\simeq \log \left(-e^{2\rho_{\infty}} \sin^2 \frac{T_0}{2} \right)$$
$$= \pi i + \log \left(\frac{\sin^2 \frac{T_0}{2}}{\epsilon^2} \right),$$

where we have set $\epsilon = e^{-\rho_{\infty}}$. Thus the entanglement entropy is calculated as

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c}{3} \log\left(\frac{2\sin\frac{T_0}{2}}{\epsilon}\right) + \frac{c}{6}\pi i,\tag{3.6}$$

which reproduces the correct timelike EE in the CFT side (2.7) at $R = 2\pi$.



Figure 9. The holographic timelike entanglement entropy in global AdS_3 (left) and that in a "Hartle-Hawking" like geometry (right). The length of the red curve and that of the green curve give the imaginal and real part of the holographic timelike entanglement entropy, respectively.

3.2 Comments on extreme surfaces in AdS₃

The surface which gives the holographic timelike entanglement entropy consists of the union of spacelike and timelike geodesic and it does not look like an extremal surface at first sight. To see this we consider the AdS_2 slice of global AdS_3 :

$$ds^{2} = d\eta^{2} + \cosh^{2}\eta \left(-\cosh^{2}rdt^{2} + dr^{2} \right), \qquad (3.7)$$

where the new coordinate (η, r) is related to (ρ, θ) in (3.5) via

$$\cosh \eta \cosh r = \cosh \rho, \quad \sinh \eta = \sinh \rho \cos \phi. \tag{3.8}$$

As depicted in figure 9, the boundary at $\eta = \infty$ covers a half of the original boundary cylinder of the global AdS₃, where the timelike interval A is situated. $\eta = -\infty$ corresponds the other boundary. Now, starting from $\eta = \infty$, at $\eta = 0$ we continue to the 'Wick-rotated' geometry defined by $\eta = i\tilde{\eta}$, which is given by

$$ds^{2} = -d\tilde{\eta}^{2} + \cos^{2}\tilde{\eta} \left(-\cosh^{2}rdt^{2} + dr^{2} \right), \quad (0 < \tilde{\eta} < \pi/2).$$
(3.9)

This geometry has AdS_2 as its boundary at $\tilde{\eta} = 0$. We expect that the dual extremal surface Γ_A is situated on a hyperplane r = 0, whose metric reads

$$ds^{2} = -(d\tilde{\eta}^{2} + \cos^{2}\tilde{\eta}dt^{2}), \quad (0 < \tilde{\eta} < \pi/2).$$
(3.10)

If we compactify t such that $t \sim t + 2\pi$, then this metric is identical to that of minus times the sphere metric. The minus sign means that the length is given by i times the length in the semisphere as depicted in the right of figure 9. This glued geometry helps us to find the correct geodesics which compute the holographic timelike EE. This is similar to the Hartle-Hawking prescription which is employed to calculate the holographic pseudo entropy in dS/CFT as we will see in section 5.1.

Let us check that the timelike entanglement entropy is indeed derived from an "extremization" condition analogous to the ordinary geodesic condition. Since the geodesic length we are considering is complex-valued, this condition amounts to imposing the extremality to both the real and imaginary parts, which come from spacelike and timelike surfaces respectively. A geodesic emanating from the boundary at $t = T_0/2$ will attach to some point on the surface $\eta = 0$. We fix the *t*-coordinate of the end point of the geodesic by t_1 , and that of the other geodesic emanating from $t = -T_0/2$ by t_2 .

First we consider the imaginary part. The geodesic connecting t_1 and t_2 in the Euclidean region is determined by varying the following area functional

$$i \int d\tilde{\eta} \sqrt{1 + \cos^2 \tilde{\eta} \left(\frac{dt(\tilde{\eta})}{d\tilde{\eta}}\right)^2}.$$
 (3.11)

As described above, the overall factor i comes from the minus sign in (3.9). From the Euler-Lagrange equation, we have

$$t'(\tilde{\eta}) = \frac{\cos \tilde{\eta}_*}{\cos \tilde{\eta} \sqrt{\cos^2 \tilde{\eta} - \cos^2 \tilde{\eta}_*}},\tag{3.12}$$

where $\tilde{\eta}_*$ satisfies $d\tilde{\eta}/dt = 0$. The condition that the geodesic ends on the $\tilde{\eta} = 0$ surface at $t = t_1, t_2$ leads to

$$t(0) = t_2, \quad t(\tilde{\eta}_*) = \frac{t_1 + t_2}{2}.$$
 (3.13)

By integrating (3.12) with these boundary conditions, we obtain

$$t_1 - t_2 = \pi. \tag{3.14}$$

The fact that this condition does not depend on $\tilde{\eta}_*$ means that the geodesic can exist only when the endpoints t_1, t_2 satisfy this condition, i.e. the two points on \mathbb{S}^2 should be at the antipodal points to each other. The length of this geodesic is

$$2i \int_0^{\tilde{\eta}_*} d\tilde{\eta} \frac{\cos \tilde{\eta}}{\sqrt{\cos^2 \tilde{\eta} - \cos^2 \tilde{\eta}_*}} = i\pi.$$
(3.15)

Therefore the imaginary part always takes the value of π , which is identical to the length of geodesics that lie along the boundary \mathbb{S}^2 .

Next we consider the real part. We can straightforwardly evaluate the sum of the two spacelike geodesics with end points t_1, t_2 as

$$\begin{aligned} \cosh^{-1} \left[\cosh \eta_{\infty} \cos \left(\frac{T_0}{2} - t_1 \right) \right] + \cosh^{-1} \left[\cosh \eta_{\infty} \cos \left(\frac{T_0}{2} + t_2 \right) \right] \\ \simeq \log \left[e^{2\eta_{\infty}} \cos \left(\frac{T_0}{2} - t_1 \right) \cos \left(\frac{T_0}{2} + t_2 \right) \right] \\ = \log \left[-\frac{1}{2} e^{2\eta_{\infty}} \left(\cos T_0 + \cos 2t_1 \right) \right], \end{aligned}$$

where η_{∞} is a large cutoff. In the second equality, we used the condition (3.14). The condition that the derivative with t_1 vanishes leads to $\sin 2t_1 = 0$. For t_1 and t_2 to be in the range $-\pi < t < \pi$, they should take

$$t_1 = \frac{\pi}{2}, \quad t_2 = -\frac{\pi}{2}.$$
 (3.16)

Under this condition the sum of the geodesic lengths is

$$\log\left[e^{2\eta_{\infty}}\sin^2\frac{T_0}{2}\right].\tag{3.17}$$

Finally, we evaluate the timelike entanglement entropy

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{1}{4G_N} \left(2\log\left[e^{\eta_\infty}\sin\frac{T_0}{2}\right] + i\pi \right)$$

$$= \frac{c_{\mathrm{AdS}}}{3}\log\left[\frac{2\sin\frac{T_0}{2}}{\epsilon}\right] + \frac{i\pi c_{\mathrm{AdS}}}{6}, \qquad (\epsilon \equiv 2e^{-\eta_\infty}), \qquad (3.18)$$

which reproduces (3.6).

In this way, the extremality condition imposed in the geometry obtained after the Wick rotation as the originally spacelike geodesic turned into the timelike one, requires that the length of the timelike geodesic is π and fixes the end-points of the spacelike geodesics. This uniquely determined the total shape of Γ_A , which is a union of spacelike and timelike geodesics.

We can summarize this procedure as follows:⁴

(i) First we construct candidates of Γ_A from a union of spacelike and timelike geodesics such that $\partial \Gamma_A = \partial A$.

(ii) Then we take variations of the joining points of spacelike and timelike geodesics and require that they are all stationary. Here we consider the Wick rotated geometry for the timelike geodesics.

3.3 BTZ black hole

The metric for the BTZ black hole is given by

$$ds^{2} = -\left(r^{2} - r_{+}^{2}\right)dt^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{\left(r^{2} - r_{+}^{2}\right)} + r^{2}d\phi^{2}$$
(3.19)

where r_+ is the horizon radius and we have set the AdS length $R_{AdS} = 1$ in the remainer of this section. The inverse temperature can be written in terms of the horizon radius as $\beta = \frac{2\pi}{r_+}$. The BTZ black hole and global AdS₃ are related by the following coordinate transformation

$$\chi_{0} = \cosh(\rho)\sin(\tau) = \frac{\sqrt{r^{2} - r_{+}^{2}}}{r_{+}}\sinh(r_{+}t)$$

$$\chi_{1} = \cosh(\rho)\cos(\tau) = \frac{r}{r_{+}}\cosh(r_{+}\phi)$$

$$\chi_{2} = \sinh(\rho)\cos(\theta) = \frac{r}{r_{+}}\sinh(r_{+}\phi)$$

$$\chi_{3} = \sinh(\rho)\sin(\theta) = \frac{\sqrt{r^{2} - r_{+}^{2}}}{r_{+}}\cosh(r_{+}t)$$
(3.20)

⁴Similar definitions have already been considered in [16, 22].



Figure 10. The BTZ black hole in Kruskal coordinates. The left and right boundary are determined by uv = -1 while the past and future singularity uv = 1. the two horizons are at u = 0 and v = 0 respectively.

Our first task will be to reproduce (2.10) by considering the lengths of paths of geodesics in the bulk spacetime and applying our optimization procedure. To aid us we find it useful to utilize Kruskal coordinates defined by the transformation

$$\chi_0 = \frac{u+v}{1+uv}$$

$$\chi_1 = \frac{1-uv}{1+uv} \cosh(r_+\phi)$$

$$\chi_2 = \frac{1-uv}{1+uv} \sinh(r_+\phi)$$

$$\chi_3 = \frac{v-u}{1+uv}.$$
(3.21)

The corresponding metric is given by

$$ds^{2} = -4\frac{dudv}{(1+uv)^{2}} + \frac{(1-uv)^{2}}{(1+uv)^{2}}r_{+}^{2}d\phi^{2}$$
(3.22)

and the geometry is shown in figure 10.

For the calculation of the timelike entanglement entropy we will restrict to the constant $\phi = 0, \pi$ slice. With this choice we can solve for the geodesics which are given by the equation

$$u''(1+uv) + 2u'(u-u'v) = 0 (3.23)$$

and obtain the solution

$$u(v) = \frac{c_1 + c_2 v}{1 + c_1 v}, \quad u'(v) = \frac{c_2 - c_1^2}{(1 + c_1 v)^2}.$$
(3.24)

The causality of these geodesics is determined by the relative values of c_1, c_2

$$c_1^2 \ge c_2$$
 spacelike
 $c_1^2 \le c_2$ timelike. (3.25)

The length of geodesics can generally be directly evaluated by integration, however it is often easier to make use of the embedding distance Θ between points X_1 and X_2 in the embedding space $\mathbb{R}^{2,2}$. By making use of the coordinate transformation (3.21) this is given by

$$\Theta(X_1, X_2) = g_{AB} X_1^A X_2^B = \frac{-2(v_1 u_2 + u_1 v_2) - (1 - v_1 u_1)(1 - v_2 u_2) \cosh(r_+(\phi_1 - \phi_2))}{(1 + v_1 u_1)(1 + v_2 u_2)}$$
(3.26)

In terms of the embedding distance the geodesic distance is then given by

$$D(X_1, X_2) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{arccosh}(-\Theta(X_1, X_2)), & \operatorname{spacelike} \\ i \operatorname{arccos}(-\Theta(X_1, X_2)), & \operatorname{timelike}. \end{cases}$$
(3.27)

To regulate the length of geodesics we introduce a UV cutoff ω such that $u_b v_b = -1 + \omega$ for any point (u_b, v_b) on the boundary. Examining $\chi_0 + \chi_3$ using (3.21) and (3.20) we have

$$\frac{2v}{1+uv} = \frac{\sqrt{r^2 - r_+^2}}{r_+} \left(\sinh(r_+t) + \cosh(r_+t)\right)$$

$$\frac{2v_b}{\omega} = \frac{r_\infty}{r_+} e^{r_+t}$$

$$\frac{2v_b}{\omega} = \frac{1}{r_+\delta} e^{r_+t}.$$
(3.28)

which allows us to relate ω to the cutoff in BTZ coordinates δ and well as the boundary coordinates. As such we will work with the conventions

$$\frac{2}{\omega} = \frac{1}{r_{+}\delta}, \quad v_{r,l} = \pm e^{r+t}(1-\frac{\omega}{2}) \approx \pm e^{r+t}, \quad u_{r,l} = \mp e^{-r_{+}t}(1-\frac{\omega}{2}) \approx \mp e^{-r_{+}t}$$
(3.29)

where the upper (lower) signs are for the right (left) boundary respectively. In what follows we will always work at leading order $\frac{1}{\omega}$ dropping any subleading terms.

We proceed by considering several examples. We shall start by determining the timelike entanglement entropy of a single region A. Its result can then be used to consider two regions A and B and define the timelike mutual information $I_{AB}^{(T)}$ and thermofield mutual information $J_{AB}^{(T)}$ (between regions on different boundaries). Lastly we shall consider the BTZ black hole with a shock wave.

3.3.1 Single interval

We start by determining the timelike entanglement entropy of a single region $A = [T_1, T_2]$ on the right boundary where $T_1 < T_2$. In Kruskal coordinates given by $(v_1, u_1) = (a_1, -\frac{1}{a_1})$ and $(v_2, u_2) = (a_2, -\frac{1}{a_2})$ where making use of (3.29)

$$a_i = e^{r_+ T_i}. (3.30)$$

Consider the collection of three geodesics shown in figure 11. This consists of two spacelike geodesics one from the boundary at $v = a_2$ to the future singularity at v = s and one from the boundary at $v = a_1$ to the past singularity at v = q. We also include a timelike



Figure 11. The system of geodesics used to determine the timelike entanglement entropy $S_A^{(T)}$. In Kruskal coordinates A is determined by the values a_1, a_2 which label the endpoints of A on the right boundary. s, q determines the intersection points of the geodesics on the singularities and are initially unconstrained.

geodesic between the past singularity at v = q and future singularity at v = s. This forms a family of candidates Γ_A where the values of s, q are to be determined.

Examining the geodesic equation (3.24) we require a timelike geodesic between the points on the past and future singularity. This is only possible if we take s = q and provides a family of timelike geodesics g_t

$$g_t: \quad u(v) = \frac{c_1 + \frac{1}{s^2}v}{1 + c_1v}, \quad c_1 \in \left(-\frac{1}{s}, \frac{1}{s}\right)$$
 (3.31)

It can be confirmed using the geodesic distance (3.27) that all such curves of this form are of maximal length

$$l_t = i\pi. \tag{3.32}$$

For the choice $c_1 = 0$ the geodesic simplifies to

$$u(v) = \frac{v}{s^2}.\tag{3.33}$$

The two spacelike geodesics g_{su} and g_{sl} and their lengths are found to be

$$g_{su}: \quad u(v) = \frac{2va_2 - (a_2^2 + s^2)}{2a_2s^2 - (a_2^2 + s^2)v}, \quad a_2 \ge s$$
(3.34)

$$l_{su} = \log\left(\frac{1}{\omega} \frac{(a_2^2 - s^2)}{a_2 s}\right)$$
(3.35)

$$g_{sl}: \quad u(v) = \frac{2va_1 - (a_1^2 + q^2)}{2a_1q^2 - (a_1^2 + q^2)v}, \quad q \ge a_1$$
(3.36)

$$l_{sl} = \log\left(\frac{1}{\omega} \frac{(q^2 - a_1^2)}{a_1 q}\right).$$
 (3.37)



Figure 12. Examples of stationary paths Γ_A^* whose area calculates the timelike entanglement entropy $S_A^{(T)}$ in the BTZ geometry. For regions symmetric about t = 0 the timelike curves extends from the center of the past singularity to the center of the future singularity.

Making use of the requirement q = s the two spacelike geodesics have total length

$$l_s = l_{su} + l_{sl} = \log\left(\frac{1}{\omega^2} \frac{(s^2 - a_1^2)(a_2^2 - s^2)}{s^2 a_1 a_2}\right).$$
(3.38)

Only the parameter s remains unfixed and labels for us many possible paths Γ_A all of varying lengths. Among all these candidate paths we should choose the one which is stationary⁵ which requires $\partial_s l_s = 0$ and thus $s^2 = a_1 a_2$. The total length of the geodesics which make up the optimized path Γ_A^* is

$$l = \log\left(\frac{1}{\omega^2} \frac{(a_2 - a_1)^2}{a_1 a_2}\right) + i\pi.$$
(3.39)

Using (3.30) the timelike entanglement entropy is found to be

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c}{3} \log\left(\frac{\beta}{\pi\delta} \sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(T_2 - T_1)\right)\right) + \frac{c}{6}i\pi \qquad (3.40)$$

which is the same as (2.10). Examples of geodesics which calculate the timelike entanglement entropy are shown in figure 12.

3.3.2 Timelike mutual information

We now consider two timelike intervals $A = [T_{A1}, T_{A2}]$ and $B = [T_{B1}, T_{B2}]$ on the right boundary of the BTZ geometry. We assume the interval are separated with A later than

⁵As constructed each candidate path Γ_A is the union of geodesics meaning each spacelike curve is minimal and each timelike curve maximal. It is important that the optimization over such paths is an extremization i.e. we look for paths which are stationary. In this example the stationary path Γ_A^* is in fact a maximum among the possible paths Γ_A .



Figure 13. Two time like regions $A = [T_{A1}, T_{A2}]$ and $B = [T_{B1}, T_{B2}]$.



Figure 14. Paths Γ_A (left) and Γ_B (right) whose area gives the timelike entanglement entropy $S_A^{(T)}$ and $S_B^{(T)}$.

B. In Kruskal coordinates this can be written as

$$A: \quad v_{A1} = a_1, \qquad v_{A2} = a_2, \qquad a_i = e^{r_+ T_{Ai}} B: \quad v_{B1} = b_1, \qquad v_{B2} = b_2, \qquad b_i = e^{r_+ T_{Bi}}$$
(3.41)

where because these points are on the boundary we have $v_r u_r = -1$. The set up is shown in figure 13.

Using our results (3.40) the single party timelike entanglement entropies $S_A^{(T)}$ and $S_B^{(T)}$ are given by

$$S_{A_i}^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c}{3} \log\left(\frac{\beta}{\pi\delta} \sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(T_{A_i2} - T_{A_i1})\right)\right) + \frac{c}{6}i\pi.$$
(3.42)

with the corresponding geodesics shown in figure 14.



Figure 15. Paths Γ_{AB} whose area gives the timelike entanglement entropy $S_{AB}^{(T)}$. There are two possible phases in analogy with the connected/disconnected phase transition for the entanglement entropy S_{AB} . L: disconnected phase R: connected phase.

For the two party timelike entanglement entropy $S_{AB}^{(T)}$ there are two configurations of geodesics we can consider. The first corresponds to the disconnect phase in which $S_{AB}^{(T)} = S_A^{(T)} + S_B^{(T)}$ so that

$$S_{AB}^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c}{3} \log \left(\frac{\beta^2}{\pi^2 \delta^2} \sinh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (T_{A2} - T_{A1}) \right) \sinh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (T_{B2} - T_{B1}) \right) \right) + \frac{c}{3} i \pi.$$
(3.43)

The second corresponds to the connect phase where the geodesics correspond to the two intervals of length $T_{A2} - T_{B1}$ and $T_{A1} - T_{B2}$ so that

$$S_{AB}^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c}{3} \log \left(\frac{\beta^2}{\pi^2 \delta^2} \sinh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (T_{A2} - T_{B1}) \right) \sinh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (T_{A1} - T_{B2}) \right) \right) + \frac{c}{3} i \pi.$$
(3.44)

In this example we see that the two possible phases for $S_{AB}^{(T)}$ are comprised of stationary paths but have the same imaginary value. To distinguish between these configurations, we choose, in analogy with the case of the usual entanglement entropy, to take the one with the smallest real value to be the optimal configuration.⁶

Both sets of geodesics are shown in figure 15. We can now consider the timelike mutual information

$$I_{AB}^{(\mathrm{T})} = S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} + S_B^{(\mathrm{T})} - S_{AB}^{(\mathrm{T})}$$
(3.45)

where we have taken the spacelike entanglement entropy and replaced each term with the respective timelike entanglement entropy. Since we choose the configuration of $S_{AB}^{(T)}$ for which the real part is minimal the timelike mutual information should be maximized with

 $^{^{6}}$ This is a definition and it is possible that other prescriptions should be considered. We comment briefly on this in the discussion section 6.

respect to the two possible configurations. Combining our results we find

$$I_{AB}^{(\mathrm{T})} = \max \begin{cases} \frac{c}{3} \log \left(\frac{\sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(T_{A2} - T_{A1})\right) \sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(T_{B1} - T_{B2})\right)}{\sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(T_{A2} - T_{B1})\right) \sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(T_{A1} - T_{B2})\right)} \right) \\ 0 \end{cases} (3.46)$$

Note that here the imaginary part completely cancels so that the maximization is over an entirely real quantity. The timelike mutual information should be compared with the mutual information of two spacelike regions [58, 59] $A = [\theta_{A1}, \theta_{A2}]$ and $B = [\theta_{B1}, \theta_{B2}]$ which we take to be arranged such that there is no thermal contribution coming from the area of the horizon

$$I_{AB} = \max \begin{cases} \frac{c}{3} \log \left(\frac{\sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(\theta_{A2} - \theta_{A1})\right) \sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(\theta_{B1} - \theta_{B2})\right)}{\sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(\theta_{A2} - \theta_{B1})\right) \sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(\theta_{A1} - \theta_{B2})\right)} \right) \\ 0. \end{cases} (3.47)$$

3.3.3 Timelike thermofield mutual information

In the BTZ geometry it is also possible to consider entanglement entropies where the regions are placed on opposite boundaries. For example [60] considered the mutual information of two spacelike regions $A = [\theta_{A1}, \theta_{A2}]$ and $B = [\theta_{B1}, \theta_{B2}]$ in such a set up. This quantity was defined to be the thermofield mutual information J_{AB} and found by calculating the lengths of minimal geodesics⁷ that it takes the form

$$J_{AB} = \max \begin{cases} \frac{c}{3} \log \left(\frac{\sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(\theta_{A2} - \theta_{A1})\right) \sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(\theta_{2B} - \theta_{1B})\right)}{\cosh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(\theta_{A1} + \theta_{B1})\right) \cosh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(\theta_{A2} + \theta_{B2})\right)} \right) \\ 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.48)

To determine the timelike thermofield mutual information we instead consider two time like intervals on different boundaries. The interval on the right boundary is given by $A = [T_{A1}, T_{A2}]$ while the left by $B = [T_{B1}, T_{B2}]$ both of which are defined with respect to the time coordinate on the right boundary. We use the same conventions (3.41) to define these intervals in Kruskal coordinates. The setup is shown in figure 16.

There are once again two possible configurations of geodesics for the two party entropy $S_{AB}^{(T)}$ (see figure 17). For the connected phase the geodesic are entirely spacelike and connects through the geometry between endpoints on either boundary. The geodesic connecting the left boundary at v_L to the right boundary at v_R is given by

$$u(v) = \frac{v_L v_R - 1 - 2v_L v}{(v_L v_R - 1)v + 2v_R}$$
(3.49)

which has length

$$\log\left(\frac{\beta}{\pi\delta}\cosh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(T_L+T_R)\right)\right).$$
(3.50)

⁷The authors of [60] also provided derivations of the thermofield mutual information for the CFT of a 2d massless Dirac fermion, but were unable to extend the result to 2d holographic CFTs. This is essentially a historical artifact as [60] appeared before [61] which provided the necessary tools of vacuum block expansion. To our knowledge a complete derivation for 2d holographic CFTs has not appeared in the literature so we have provided one in appendix A.



Figure 16. Two timelike regions $A = [T_{A1}, T_{A2}]$ and $B = [T_{B1}, T_{B2}]$. For the calculation of the timelike thermofield mutual information one region is paced on each of the left and right boundaries.



Figure 17. Paths Γ_{AB} whose area gives the timelike entanglement entropy $S_{AB}^{(T)}$. There are two possible phases in analogy with the connected/disconnected phase transition of the thermofield mutual information. L: the disconnected phase is constructed from our result in the single interval case. Because time runs oppositely on the two boundaries the two imaginary geodesics should contribute with opposite sign. As such these areas cancel so that $S_{AB}^{(T)}$ is entirely real. R: the connected phase consists of two spacelike geodesics extending through the geometry to opposite boundaries.

so that in this phase we have

$$S_{AB}^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c}{3} \log \left(\frac{\beta^2}{\pi^2 \delta^2} \cosh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (T_{A1} + T_{B1})\right) \cosh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (T_{A2} + T_{B2})\right) \right).$$
(3.51)

In the disconnected phase we have $S_{AB}^{(T)} = S_A^{(T)} + S_B^{(T)}$ where the paths are the same as in the single interval case with one on each of the two boundaries. One must take care that because time on the left boundary runs opposite to that on the right the timelike surfaces

should contribute with *opposite* sign. That is

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c}{3} \log\left(\frac{\beta}{\pi\delta} \sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(T_{A2} - T_{A1})\right)\right) + \frac{c}{6}i\pi$$

$$S_B^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c}{3} \log\left(\frac{\beta}{\pi\delta} \sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(T_{B2} - T_{B1})\right)\right) - \frac{c}{6}i\pi.$$
(3.52)

This can be more clearly demonstrated by using (3.50) and the relation

$$t_R = t_L + i\frac{\beta}{2} \tag{3.53}$$

between times on the left and right boundary. Note that here t_L is defined with respect to the time on the left boundary which runs opposite of that on the right. By substituting such that both end points are on the same boundary the result is precisely (3.52). As a consequence $S_{AB}^{(T)}$ in the disconnected phase is entirely real. We define the timelike thermofield mutual information to be

$$J_{AB}^{(\mathrm{T})} = S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} + S_B^{(\mathrm{T})} - S_{AB}^{(\mathrm{T})}$$
(3.54)

with A and B on different boundaries. The timelike thermofield mutual information is then found to be

$$J_{AB}^{(\mathrm{T})} = \max \begin{cases} \frac{c}{3} \log \left(\frac{\sinh(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(T_{A2} - T_{A1})) \sinh(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(T_{2B} - T_{1B}))}{\cosh(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(T_{A1} + T_{B1})) \cosh(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(T_{A2} + T_{B2}))} \right) \\ 0. \end{cases} (3.55)$$

3.3.4 The necessity of timelike entanglement entropy in thermofield double state

So far we have considered various choices of subsystems in two-sided BTZ black holes. Here we consider yet another choice of subsystem such that two twist operators are placed on the different sides of the black holes, depicted in figure 18a and figure 18b. As we will explain below, the corresponding entropy defined by the usual replica method, cannot be interpreted as the entanglement entropy, but as the timelike entanglement entropy. This provides an argument towards the necessity of introducing timelike entanglement entropy. Note that although this setup looks similar to [62], we consider only one twist operator in each AdS boundary, which is compactified on a circle.

Let us consider the thermofield double state

$$|\text{TFD}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{Z(\beta)}} \sum_{n} e^{-\beta E_n/2} |n\rangle_L |n\rangle_R, \qquad (3.56)$$

where the Hilbert space of the CFT is doubled such that the left and right boundary of the BTZ are dual to CFT_L and CFT_R . This state is the zero eigenstate of the Hamiltonian

$$H_{\rm TFD} = \mathbf{1} \otimes H_R - H_L \otimes \mathbf{1}, \tag{3.57}$$

i.e. the thermofield double state is invariant under the time evolution generated by $H_{\rm TFD}$. In the bulk point of view, $|{\rm TFD}\rangle$ is interpreted as the Euclidean construction of the Hartle-Hawking state in the BTZ black hole. The real time evolution generated by $H_{\rm TFD}$ is realized



Figure 18. (a) An interpretation of the configuration of σ_n , $\bar{\sigma}_n$ such that they are on the different sides of the black hole from each other. When the space is \mathbb{S}^1 , the twist operators cannot be connected by a single spacelike region as depicted in (b).

as the gluing of the Euclidean geometry to the Lorentzian BTZ black hole geometry at t = 0. In this geometry, time evolves forward in the right half and backward in the left half, the opposite direction of which corresponds to the relative sign in (3.57).

As a model that has the non-trivial time evolution, we consider time evolution of the thermofield double state under another Hamiltonian

$$H = \mathbf{1} \otimes H_R + H_L \otimes \mathbf{1}. \tag{3.58}$$

As a result of flipping the relative sign from H_{TFD} , H generates the forward time evolution in the both sides. In [62], a half plane x < 0 in the planar CFT and a strip region -L < x < L are considered as subsystems. In the both cases, geodesics connecting two twist operators on the left and right boundaries can be considered as candidate extreme surfaces. For example, if we consider a half plane as a subsystem, the entanglement entropy is calculated as the area of the extremal surface behaves as $S_A \propto t$ $(t \gg \beta)$ [62].

Now, instead, let us consider the thermal state on a circle \mathbb{S}^1 . We can again consider the configuration of two twist operators such that one is on the right boundary and the other is on the left. In the replica method we can calculate the corresponding entropy by the two-point function of the twist operators on the torus as before. In the AdS dual, this is a geodesic distance between the two points in the BTZ as sketched in figure 18a. However, we cannot interpret this as EE because we cannot take the subsystem A such that the twist operators are on ∂A . The Hilbert space is given by fields on two disconnected circles, situated in the left and right boundary and we only have a single twist operator in each of the circle, which makes the definition of the subsystem A impossible. However, we can understand this quantity as the timelike EE as depicted in figure 18b.

3.4 BTZ with shock wave

Following [63] we introduce a shock wave into the BTZ geometry. For early low energy perturbations along the u = 0 horizon this takes the form of a simple shift α between two regions above and below such that $\tilde{v} = v + \alpha$.



Figure 19. The BTZ geometry with a shock wave characterized by the parameter α . The geometry above and below the u = 0 horizon is BTZ but the two are shifted such that $\tilde{v} = v + \alpha$. Here \tilde{v} is the shifted coordinate for u > 0.

The metric has the form

$$ds^{2} = -4 \frac{dudv}{(1 + u(v + \alpha\theta(u)))^{2}} + \frac{(1 - u(v + \alpha\theta(u)))^{2}}{(1 + u(v + \alpha\theta(u)))^{2}} r_{+}^{2} d\phi^{2}$$
(3.59)

and the geometry is shown in figure 19.

Note that spacelike geodesics in the t = 0 plane will not cross the horizon. As a result the entanglement entropies of spacelike regions will be unaffected by the shock wave and given by (2.22). If we consider the analytic continuation of the spacelike entanglement entropy we would incorrectly conclude that the timelike entanglement entropy should be similarly unaffected and given by (3.40) which is independent of α . To see that this is incorrect we will carry out our optimization procedure and find in subsection 3.5 that the result exactly matches the timelike entanglement entropy when computed from a careful Wick rotation of the boundary CFT.

We consider a single region $A = [T_1, T_2]$ on the right boundary where $T_1 < T_2$ and use (3.41). To define Γ_A we use the collection of five geodesics shown in figure 20. This consists of three spacelike geodesics one from the boundary at $v = a_2$ to the horizon at $(h_s, 0)$, from the horizon at $(h_s, 0)$ to the future singularity at v = s and one from the boundary at $v = a_1$ to the past singularity at v = q. We also include two timelike geodesic between the past singularity at v = q and future singularity at v = s which intersect the horizon at $(h_t, 0)$. This forms a family of candidates Γ_A where the values of s, q, h_s, h_t are to be determined.

Upper spacelike geodesic. We consider two geodesics: one below u = 0 which we call g_u , and one above u = 0 which we call $g_{\tilde{u}}$. These can be solved using (3.24) with the additional constraint that smoothness across the horizon at u = 0 determines the point of



Figure 20. The five geodesics which make up the candidate paths Γ_A . To account for the change of coordinates geodesics which cross the u = 0 horizon where there is a shock wave are separated into two geodesics. The point which these geodesics cross the horizon as well as the location of the endpoints on the singularities are initially free parameters. These can all be fixed by requiring that Γ_A is stationary. For h_s , h_t this is equivalent to requiring that the geodesics are smoothly connected across the horizon.

intersection h_s

$$g_{u}: \quad u(v) = \frac{v - h_{s}}{2h_{s}a_{2} - a_{2}^{2} - h_{s}v}$$

$$g_{\tilde{u}}: \quad u(\tilde{v}) = \frac{\tilde{v} - (h_{s} + \alpha)}{s^{2} - (h_{s} + \alpha)\tilde{v}}$$

$$h_{s} = \frac{s^{2} + a_{2}^{2} - \alpha^{2}}{2(a_{2} + \alpha)}.$$
(3.60)

Together these have length

$$l_{u} + l_{\tilde{u}} = \log\left(\frac{2}{\omega}\frac{a_{2} - h_{s}}{a_{2}}\right) + \log\left(\frac{\sqrt{(h_{s} + \alpha)^{2} - s^{2}} + h_{s} + \alpha - s}{\sqrt{(h_{s} + \alpha)^{2} - s^{2}} - (h_{s} + \alpha - s)}\right)$$

$$= \log\left(\frac{1}{\omega}\frac{(a_{2} + \alpha)^{2} - s^{2}}{a_{2}s}\right)$$
(3.61)

Note that h_s can also be determined directly from the geodesics length by considering $\partial_{h_s}(l_u + l_{\tilde{u}} = 0.$

Lower spacelike geodesic. The lower spacelike geodesic g_l remains in the lower half of the geometry and does not cross the shock wave the result is the same as the BTZ black hole

$$g_l: \quad u(v) = \frac{2va_1 - (a_1^2 + q^2)}{2a_1q^2 - (a_1^2 + q^2)v}$$
(3.62)

$$l_{l} = \log\left(\frac{1}{\omega} \frac{(q^{2} - a_{1}^{2})}{a_{1}q}\right).$$
(3.63)

Timelike geodesic. The two timelike geodesics g_t and $g_{\tilde{t}}$ are given by

$$g_t: \quad u(v) = \frac{v - h_t}{q^2 - h_t v}$$

$$g_{\tilde{t}}: \quad u(\tilde{v}) = \frac{\tilde{v} - (h_t + \alpha)}{s^2 - (h_t + \alpha)\tilde{v}}$$
(3.64)

with smoothness across the horizon requiring

$$h_t = \frac{s^2 - q^2 - \alpha^2}{2\alpha}.$$
 (3.65)

The total length is

$$l_t + l_{\tilde{t}} = 2i \left[\arctan\left(\sqrt{\frac{q - h_t}{q + h_t}}\right) + \arctan\left(\sqrt{\frac{s - (h_t + \alpha)}{s + (h_t + \alpha)}}\right) \right]$$
$$= 2i \arctan\left(\frac{\sqrt{\frac{q - h_t}{q + h_t}} + \sqrt{\frac{s - (h_t + \alpha)}{s + (h_t + \alpha)}}}{1 - \sqrt{\frac{q - h_t}{q + h_t}}\sqrt{\frac{s - (h_t + \alpha)}{s + (h_t + \alpha)}}}\right)$$
(3.66)

where h_t can also be determined directly from the geodesics length by considering $\partial_{h_s}(l_t + l_{\tilde{t}}) = 0$. the timelike geodesics will be maximal with length $i\pi$ when the denominator is zero. As such this becomes the condition

$$1 - \frac{|\alpha - s + q|}{|\alpha + s - q|} = 0 \longrightarrow s = q, \quad h_t = -\frac{\alpha}{2}.$$
(3.67)

Using that s = q the spacelike geodesics have combined length

$$l_u + l_{\tilde{u}} + l_l = \log\left(\frac{1}{\omega^2} \frac{((a_2 + \alpha)^2 - s^2)(s^2 - a_1^2)}{a_1 a_2 s^2}\right)$$
(3.68)

which is stationary when $s^2 = a_1(a_2 + \alpha)$. Then

$$l_u + l_{\tilde{u}} + l_l = \log\left(\frac{1}{\omega^2} \frac{(a_2 - a_1 + \alpha)^2}{a_1 a_2}\right).$$
(3.69)

Now with all the free parameters fixed it is found that the area of Γ_A^* is given by

$$\frac{c}{3}\log\left(\frac{\beta}{\pi\delta}\left(\sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(T_2-T_1)\right)+\frac{\alpha}{2}e^{-\frac{\pi}{\beta}(T_2+T_1)}\right)\right)+\frac{c}{6}i\pi.$$
(3.70)

where there is a correction due to the shift α . An example of a such path Γ_A^* with this area is shown in figure 21. As a check the geodesic length between two points on opposite boundaries in the shock wave geometry was computed in [63] to be:

$$\frac{c}{3}\log\left[\frac{\beta}{\pi\delta}\left(\cosh\frac{\pi}{\beta}(t_R-t_L)+\frac{\alpha}{2}e^{-\frac{\pi}{\beta}(t_R+t_L)}\right)\right].$$
(3.71)

By continuing $t_R = T_2$ and $t_L = T_1 - \frac{\beta}{2}i$ using (3.53), we can reproduce (3.70).

As a result we have shown that the two constructions — the analytic continuation of the entanglement entropy given by (3.40), which is independent of α , and the optimization of extremal surfaces given by (3.70), which depends on α — are not the same. We return to this in section 3.5 where we will show the correctness of (3.70) by comparing this result with that of the CFT calculation.



Figure 21. An example of a stationary path Γ_A^* whose area calculates the timelike entanglement entropy $S_A^{(T)}$ in the BTZ geometry with a shock wave.

3.5 Timelike EE under local quench in thermofield double state from the CFT

In section 3.4, we have observed a surprising feature that the gravity dual calculation of timelike EE in the shock wave geometry is affected by the shock wave sent in the left boundary i.e. CFT_L , though the timelike EE is defined in the other boundary i.e CFT_R . In the gravity calculation this occurs because the geodesics whose sum computes the holographic timelike EE, extend to the region which is not causally related to the CFT_R boundary. This makes us wonder if the timelike EE in CFTs can have a similar behavior. To study this we consider the setup of a local quench in a thermofield double state considered in [64]. This is dual to a localized shock wave geometry, depicted in the left panel of figure 22.

We insert the local primary operator $O(t_L, \phi_L)$ in CFT_L at $t_L = -t_w$ and $\phi_L = 0$ with a regularization parameter γ , which is infinitesimally small, such that $e^{-\gamma H_R}$ is multiplied on the local operator. The subsystem A is defined as the interval between two points $(t_R, \phi_R) = (t_0, \phi_0)$ and $(t_R, \phi_R) = (t_0 + \Delta t, \phi_0 + \Delta \phi)$. In this setup we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}[(\rho_A)^n] = \frac{\langle O^n(y_1, \bar{y}_1)\sigma_n(y_2, \bar{y}_2)\bar{\sigma}_n(y_3, \bar{y}_3)O^{n\dagger}(y_4, \bar{y}_4)\rangle}{\langle O(y_1, \bar{y}_1)O(y_4, \bar{y}_4)\rangle^n},$$
(3.72)

where we defined the coordinates on a cylinder such that

$$y_{1} = -i\gamma + i\frac{\beta}{2}, \quad y_{2} = \phi_{0} - t_{0} - t_{w}, \quad y_{3} = \phi_{0} + \Delta\phi - t_{0} - \Delta t - t_{w}, \quad y_{4} = i\gamma + i\frac{\beta}{2},$$

$$\bar{y}_{1} = i\gamma - i\frac{\beta}{2}, \quad \bar{y}_{2} = \phi_{0} + t_{0} + t_{w}, \quad \bar{y}_{3} = \phi_{0} + \Delta\phi + t_{0} + \Delta t + t_{w}, \quad \bar{y}_{4} = -i\gamma - i\frac{\beta}{2}.$$

(3.73)

The coordinates (t_R, ϕ_R) are related to those on the complex plane via

$$(y,\bar{y}) = (\phi_R - t_R, \phi_R + t_R),$$
 (3.74)



Figure 22. The sketches of geodesic in the gravity dual of local quench. The left picture describes the geodesics whose sum computes the timelike EE. The right panel shows the geodesic which connect a point in the left boundary and a point in the right panel. The brown arrows depict the localized shock wave created by the local operator.

and the time in the CFT_L is related to t_R via

$$t_R = t_L + i\frac{\beta}{2}.\tag{3.75}$$

Now we perform the conformal transformation to a complex plane $w = e^{\frac{2\pi}{\beta}y}$ and introduce the cross ratio $z = \frac{w_{12}w_{34}}{w_{13}w_{24}}$.

Since γ is infinitesimally small, we find

$$z \simeq 1 - \frac{2\pi i\gamma}{\beta} \cdot \frac{\sinh\left[\frac{\pi}{\beta}(\Delta\phi - \Delta t)\right]}{\cosh\left[\frac{\pi}{\beta}(\phi_0 - t_0 - t_w)\right]\cosh\left[\frac{\pi}{\beta}(\phi_0 + \Delta\phi - t_0 - \Delta t - t_w)\right]},$$

$$\bar{z} \simeq 1 + \frac{2\pi i\gamma}{\beta} \cdot \frac{\sinh\left[\frac{\pi}{\beta}(\Delta\phi + \Delta t)\right]}{\cosh\left[\frac{\pi}{\beta}(\phi_0 + t_0 + t_w)\right]\cosh\left[\frac{\pi}{\beta}(\phi_0 + \Delta\phi + t_0 + \Delta t + t_w)\right]}.$$
 (3.76)

This shows that when the subsystem A is spacelike $\Delta \phi - \Delta t > 0$, we have $(z, \bar{z}) \rightarrow (1, 1)$. Howeever when it is timelike $\Delta \phi - \Delta t < 0$, we find $(z, \bar{z}) \rightarrow (e^{-2\pi i}, 1)$. As in [65], the non-trivial monodromy around z = 1 gives a non-zero entropy, assuming the HHLL conformal block approximation is justified in holographic CFTs. Indeed the total entropy looks like $(\delta \text{ is the UV cut off})$:

$$S_A = \frac{c}{6} \log \left[\frac{\beta^2}{\pi^2 \delta^2} \sinh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (\Delta \phi - \Delta t) \right) \sinh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (\Delta \phi + \Delta t) \right) \right] + S_A^{(M)}, \quad (3.77)$$

where the monodromy contribution $S_A^{(M)}$ is given by

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{M})} = \frac{c}{6} \log \left[\frac{z^{\frac{1}{2}(1-\alpha_O)} \bar{z}^{\frac{1}{2}(1-\alpha_O)} (1-z^{\alpha_O}) (1-\bar{z}^{\alpha_O})}{\alpha_O^2 (1-z)(1-\bar{z})} \right].$$
 (3.78)

The parameter α_O is related to the (chiral) conformal dimension $h_O = \bar{h}_O$ of the primary operator O via $\alpha_O = \sqrt{1 - \frac{24h_O}{c}}$.

The EE for the spacelike interval does not depend on the local operator excitation because $S_A^{(M)} = 0$ and is identical to the standard result. On the other hand, the timelike EE is computed as follows (we set $\Delta \phi = 0$):

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c}{3} \log \left[\frac{\beta}{\pi \delta} \sinh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} \Delta t \right) \right] + \frac{c}{6} \log \left[\frac{\beta \sin(\pi \alpha_O)}{\pi \alpha_O \gamma} \right] \\ + \frac{c}{6} \log \left[\frac{\cosh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (\phi_0 - t_0 - t_w) \right) \cosh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (\phi_0 - t_0 - \Delta t - t_w) \right)}{\sinh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} \Delta t \right)} \right] + \frac{\pi}{6} ic. \quad (3.79)$$

The result above shows that the timelike EE for CFT_R is influenced by the excitation in CFT_L as in the shock wave analysis in section 3.4. Moreover, if we take the limit $t_w/\beta \to -\infty$, then we can expect that the setup gets closer to the gravity dual result for shock wave geometry in section 3.4, Indeed, in this limit we find from (3.79) the following behavior

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} \simeq \frac{c}{3} \log \left[\frac{\beta^2}{\pi \delta \gamma} e^{-\frac{\pi}{\beta} (2t_w + t_0 + t_0 + \Delta t)} \right] + \frac{\pi}{6} ci.$$
(3.80)

If we identify $\alpha = \frac{\beta}{\gamma} \cdot e^{\frac{2\pi}{\beta}|t_w|}$ as in [63], then this agrees with (3.70) by setting $t_0 = T_1$ and $t_0 + \Delta t = T_2$.

We can also show that the same result (3.79) can be obtained from the geodesic length in the gravity dual of the local quench. Consider the spacelike geodesic which connects the point $(t_R, \phi_R) = (t_R, \phi_0)$ on the right boundary and the point $(t_L, \phi_L) = (t_L, \phi_0)$, depicted in the right panel of figure 22. Its length divided by $4G_N$ was computed in [64] as

$$\frac{c}{6} \log \left[\frac{\beta^2}{\pi^2 \delta^2} \cosh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (t_R - t_L) \right) \right] + \frac{c}{6} \log \left[\frac{\beta \sin(\pi \alpha_O)}{\pi \alpha_O \gamma} \right] \\ + \frac{c}{6} \log \left[\sinh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (\phi_0 - t_L - t_w) \right) \cosh \left(\frac{\pi}{\beta} (\phi_0 - t_R - t_w) \right) \right].$$
(3.81)

By continuing the point in the left to the right we set

$$t_R = t_0 + \Delta t, \quad t_L = t_0 - \frac{\beta}{2}i.$$
 (3.82)

This gives the geodesic length between two timelike separated points, which computes the timelike EE, depicted in the left panel of figure 22. Indeed, this precisely reproduces the CFT result (3.79). Notice that the standard EE for a spacelike interval in CFT_R is static and independent of the local operator excitation in CFT_L. This means that a naive analytic continuation from the spacelike subsystem to timelike one does not work because we need a careful analysis of conformal blocks in the holographic CFT. It is intriguing to note that the holographic analysis gives us a useful guide for the correct prescription.

3.6 Rotating BTZ

Finally we would like to study the rotating BTZ black hole. The metric looks like

$$ds^{2} = -\frac{(r^{2} - r_{+}^{2})(r^{2} - r_{-}^{2})}{r^{2}}dt^{2} + \frac{r^{2}}{(r^{2} - r_{+}^{2})(r^{2} - r_{-}^{2})}dr^{2} + r^{2}\left(dx + \frac{r_{+}r_{-}}{r^{2}}dt\right)^{2}$$
(3.83)

where we have compactified $x \sim x + L$ and imposed $r_+ > r_-$.

In order to consider the CFT dual to this system, we must perform a Wick rotation $t \to i\tau$ and compactify the imaginary time direction $\tau \sim \tau + \beta$, where β is the inverse temperature. We obtain the following metric after the rotation.

$$ds^{2} = \frac{(r^{2} - r_{+}^{2})(r^{2} - r_{-}^{2})}{r^{2}}d\tau^{2} + \frac{r^{2}}{(r^{2} - r_{+}^{2})(r^{2} - r_{-}^{2})}dr^{2} + r^{2}\left(dx + i\frac{r_{+}r_{-}}{r^{2}}d\tau\right)^{2}$$
(3.84)

Near the outer horizon, i.e. $r = r_+ + \eta$ where $\eta/r_+ \ll 1$, the periodicity of time is determined as $\beta = 2\pi \frac{r_+}{r_+^2 - r_-^2}$ by requiring that there is no conical singularity at the horizon. The cross term between dx and $d\tau$ also implies we must further impose another compactification of the x coordinate of the form, $x \sim x - i\beta\Omega$. Near the horizon, one can find that $\Omega = \frac{r_-}{r_+}$. These compactifications give rise to a density matrix of the form

$$\rho = e^{-\beta H + \beta \Omega P} \tag{3.85}$$

where H and P are the Hamiltonian and the momentum of the CFT respectively. Taking a general subsystem interval, the holographic entanglement entropy is cited as [4]

$$S_A = \frac{c}{6} \log\left(\frac{\beta_+\beta_-}{\pi^2 \epsilon^2} \sinh\left(\frac{\pi(\Delta l + \Delta t)}{\beta_+}\right) \sinh\left(\frac{\pi(\Delta l - \Delta t)}{\beta_-}\right)\right)$$
(3.86)

where $\beta_{\pm} = \beta(1 \pm \Omega)$, and Δl and Δt are the spatial and temporal lengths of the interval in the dual CFT. It becomes immediately clear that, in the limit where $\Delta l \rightarrow 0$, the term inside the logarithm becomes real and negative, leaving an imaginary contribution of $\frac{c}{6}\pi i$ to the entropy, which is a key characteristic of the timelike entanglement entropy.

We can then make the replacement $r_{-} \rightarrow ir_{-}$ and render the Euclidean theory real. However, this would in turn make the original Lorentzian metric complex-valued. Due to the dependence of Ω on r_{-} , both β_{\pm} become complex (in fact, complex conjugates of each other), giving us complex-valued entanglement entropy, which we should interpret as pseudo entropy. The newly obtained pseudo entropy can be written as follows.

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{P})} = \frac{c}{6} \log \left(\frac{\beta^2 (1 + \Omega^2)}{\pi^2 \epsilon^2} \sinh \left(\frac{\pi (\Delta l + \Delta t)}{\beta (1 + i\Omega)} \right) \sinh \left(\frac{\pi (\Delta l - \Delta t)}{\beta (1 - i\Omega)} \right) \right)$$
(3.87)

In its most general form, the imaginary contribution can be expressed as

$$\operatorname{Im}(S_A^{(\mathrm{P})}) = \frac{c}{6} \operatorname{Arg}\left(\left(\cosh\frac{2\pi\Delta l}{\beta(1+\Omega^2)}\cos\frac{2\pi\Omega\Delta t}{\beta(1+\Omega^2)} - i\sinh\frac{2\pi\Delta l}{\beta(1+\Omega^2)}\sin\frac{2\pi\Omega\Delta t}{\beta(1+\Omega^2)}\right) - (\Delta l \leftrightarrow \Delta t)\right).$$

$$(3.88)$$

The consideration of a system consisting of a rotating BTZ black hole has given us yet another example of pseudo entropy being manifest in a physical setting. The non-static nature of this system has allowed us to make a choice of equipping the Euclidean theory with a real metric while simultaneously equipping the corresponding Lorentzian theory with a complex-valued metric. The holographic entanglement entropy of the system is evaluated to be complex valued in general, even for spacelike intervals. This occurrence of the complexvalued entanglement entropy should be correctly interpreted as pseudo entropy.

4 Holographic timelike entanglement entropy in AdS_{d+1}/CFT_d

In the previous section, we only considered the holographic timelike EE in AdS₃/CFT₂. Since we have not used any specific features in three-dimensional gravity, it is natural to extend it to higher-dimensions. As generalizations of a temporal subsystem we have considered, here we consider two examples; a hyperbolic region $t^2 - \mathbf{x}^2 < T_0^2/4$ and a strip region $|t| < T_0/2$. For both cases, we first compute the timelike EE by performing the ordinary Wick rotation $t_{\rm E} = it$, and then try to give geometric interpretations to the result in the similar way as we did in sections 3.1 and 3.2.

4.1 Hyperbolic subsystem

First let us consider a hyperbolic subsystem A defined by $t^2 - \mathbf{x}^2 \leq T_0^2/4$ as a generalization of a temporal interval in the d = 2 case. After we obtain the EE for A by applying the Wick rotation to the calculation for Euclidean AdS_{d+1} (EAdS_{d+1}), we will find out the geometric configuration reproducing the result of the Wick rotation.

4.1.1 Wick rotation

First we review the ordinary computation of the EE for the Poincaré $EAdS_{d+1}$

$$ds^{2} = R_{\rm AdS}^{2} \frac{dz^{2} + dy^{2} + dt_{\rm E}^{2} + d\mathbf{x}^{2}}{z^{2}},$$
(4.1)

where y is a direction that we regard as an alternative "time" direction and $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{d-2}$ are the remaining directions. We define a subsystem A of the y = 0 slice on the boundary as $t_{\rm E}^2 + \mathbf{x}^2 \leq T_0^2/4$, where we again adopt the Poincaré coordinates (5.23). Here we introduce a radial coordinate $\xi = \sqrt{t_{\rm E}^2 + \mathbf{x}^2}$, then the entanglement entropy is the extremal value of a functional

$$\frac{R_{\text{AdS}}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}} \text{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \int dz \frac{\xi^{d-2}}{z^{d-1}} \sqrt{1 + \xi'(z)^2},\tag{4.2}$$

where $\operatorname{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) = \frac{2\pi^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{d-1}{2})}$ is the area of \mathbb{S}^{d-2} . By varying this functional, we find that the extremal surface is a hemisphere $z^2 + \xi^2 = T_0^2/4$. Therefore the entanglement entropy is

$$S_A = \frac{R_{\text{AdS}}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}} \text{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \int_{\frac{\epsilon}{T_{\text{E}}}}^1 du \frac{(1-u^2)^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{u^{d-1}},$$
(4.3)

where we have rescaled as $z = \frac{T_0}{2}u$ and introduced a UV cutoff $z = \epsilon$. For odd d,

$$S_{A} = \frac{R_{AdS}^{d-1}}{4G_{N}^{(d+1)}} \text{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \left[\sum_{k=0}^{\frac{d-3}{2}} {\binom{d-3}{2}}_{k} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{d-2k-2} \left(\frac{T_{0}}{2\epsilon} \right)^{d-2k-2} + \frac{(-1)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \right]$$
(4.4)

and for even d,

$$S_{A} = \frac{R_{AdS}^{d-1}}{4G_{N}^{(d+1)}} \operatorname{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \left[\sum_{k=0}^{\frac{d}{2}-2} {\binom{d-3}{2}}_{k} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{d-2k-2} \left(\frac{T_{0}}{2\epsilon} \right)^{d-2k-2} + \frac{(-1)^{\frac{d}{2}-1}\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \log \frac{T_{0}}{\epsilon} \right].$$

$$(4.5)$$

Here we would like to perform the Wick rotation. As before, we replace $t_{\rm E} \to it$ and $T_0 \to iT_0$, then the extremal surface will be a hyperbolic surface

$$t^2 - \mathbf{x}^2 - z^2 = \frac{T_0^2}{4} \tag{4.6}$$

which ends on ∂A at the boundary. As before, we define a radial coordinate $\xi = \sqrt{t^2 - \mathbf{x}^2}$ for the unit \mathbb{H}^{d-2} . Since the volume of the unit hyperboloid \mathbb{H}^{d-2} diverges, in order to define the volume we regularize it as

$$\operatorname{Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2}) = \operatorname{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-3}) \cdot 2 \int_0^\Lambda dv \sinh^{d-3} v.$$
(4.7)

By taking $\Lambda \to i\frac{\pi}{2}$, the right-hand side becomes

$$i^{d-2} \operatorname{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-3}) \cdot 2 \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} d\theta \sin^{d-3} \theta = i^{d-2} \operatorname{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}).$$
 (4.8)

Therefore $\operatorname{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2})$ should be replaced with $(-i)^{d-2}\operatorname{Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2})$ under the Wick rotation. Note that the phase factor $(-i)^{d-2}$ is $i(-1)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}$ for odd d and $(-1)^{\frac{d}{2}-1}$ for even d. Thus the timelike EE becomes

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{R_{\mathrm{AdS}}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}} \mathrm{Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2}) \left[\sum_{k=0}^{\frac{d-3}{2}} {\binom{d-3}{2}} \frac{1}{d-2k-2} \left(\frac{T_0}{2\epsilon} \right)^{d-2k-2} + \frac{i\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \right].$$
(4.9)

for odd d and

$$S_{A}^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{R_{\mathrm{AdS}}^{d-1}}{4G_{N}^{(d+1)}} \mathrm{Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2}) \\ \times \left[\sum_{k=0}^{\frac{d}{2}-2} {\binom{d-3}{2}}_{k} \frac{1}{d-2k-2} \left(\frac{T_{0}}{2\epsilon}\right)^{d-2k-2} + \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \log \frac{T_{0}}{\epsilon} + \frac{i\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}\right]. \quad (4.10)$$

Note that all the divergent terms are real and the $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^0)$ term is purely imaginary. It is remarkable that the form of the imaginary part does not depend on whether d is odd or even.

4.1.2 Extremal surface

We would like to find the geometric configuration in the Lorentzian AdS_{d+1} spacetime

$$ds^{2} = R_{\rm AdS}^{2} \frac{dz^{2} + dy^{2} - dt^{2} + d\mathbf{x}^{2}}{z^{2}}.$$
(4.11)

which reproduces the result above. In the Lorentzian case, we should extremize the functional

$$\frac{R_{\rm AdS}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}} \text{Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2}) \int dz \frac{\xi^{d-2}}{z^{d-1}} \sqrt{1 - \xi'(z)^2}.$$
(4.12)

The solution extremizing this functional is

$$\xi^2 - z^2 = T_0^2 / 4, \tag{4.13}$$

then the contribution to the entanglement entropy that comes from the two spacelike surfaces that end on the future and past part of ∂A respectively is

$$S_{A} = \frac{R_{AdS}^{d-1}}{4G_{N}^{(d+1)}} \operatorname{Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2}) \int_{\frac{2\epsilon}{T_{0}}}^{\infty} du \frac{(1+u^{2})^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{u^{d-1}} = \frac{R_{AdS}^{d-1}}{4G_{N}^{(d+1)}} \operatorname{Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2}) \begin{cases} \sum_{k=0}^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \left(\frac{d-3}{2}\right) \frac{1}{d-2k-2} \left(\frac{T_{0}}{2\epsilon}\right)^{d-2k-2} & (d:\text{odd}) \\ \frac{d}{2}-2}{\sum_{k=0}^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \left(\frac{d-3}{2}\right) \frac{1}{d-2k-2} \left(\frac{T_{0}}{2\epsilon}\right)^{d-2k-2} + \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{2\epsilon} \log \frac{T_{0}}{2\epsilon} & (d:\text{even}) \end{cases}$$

$$4G_N^{(d+1)} = \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\frac{d}{2}-2} {\binom{d-3}{2}}_k \right) \frac{1}{d-2k-2} \left(\frac{T_0}{2\epsilon}\right)^{d-2k-2} + \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \log \frac{T_0}{\epsilon} \quad (d:\text{even})$$

$$\tag{4.14}$$

We can see that this result reproduces the real part of (4.9) and (4.10). In addition to the spacelike surfaces considered above, we also consider a timelike surface

$$z^2 - \xi^2 = C^2, \tag{4.15}$$

where C is an arbitrary positive constant. This is embedded into the global patch of AdS_3 as a geodesic at the center $\rho = 0$. The area of this surface is

$$\operatorname{Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2}) \int_{C}^{\infty} dz \frac{\xi^{d-2}}{z^{d-1}} \sqrt{1 - \xi'(z)^2} = \operatorname{Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2}) \cdot i \int_{1}^{\infty} du \frac{(u^2 - 1)^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{u^{d-1}}$$

=
$$\operatorname{Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2}) \frac{i\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}$$
(4.16)

Thus the contribution of this timelike surface to the entanglement entropy is

$$\frac{R_{\text{AdS}}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}} \text{Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2}) \frac{i\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)},\tag{4.17}$$

which is independent of C. This expression is identical to the imaginary part of (4.9) and (4.10). In particular, this result reduces to $\frac{ic_{dS}}{6}$ when d = 2.

4.1.3 Global coordinate

Next let us give an interpretation to the result above by considering the extremal surface in the global coordinate in the similar way to subsection 3.2.

We consider the AdS_d slicing of AdS_{d+1}

$$ds_{\text{AdS}_{d+1}}^2 = R_{\text{AdS}}^2 (d\eta^2 + \cosh^2 \eta \, ds_{\text{AdS}_d}^2).$$
(4.18)

Here we adopt the open slicing as the coordinate of AdS_d :

$$ds_{\text{AdS}_d}^2 = -d\tau^2 + \sin^2 \tau \, ds_{\mathbb{H}^{d-1}}^2, \tag{4.19}$$

where $ds_{\mathbb{H}^{d-1}}^2$ is the metric of the unit hyperbolic space:

$$ds_{\mathbb{H}^{d-1}}^2 = d\rho^2 + \sinh^2 \rho \, d\Omega_{d-2}^2. \tag{4.20}$$

As done in subsection 3.2, we consider the gluing of this geometry at $\eta = 0$ to the Wickrotated geometry by $\eta \to i\tilde{\eta}$:

$$ds^2 = R^2_{\text{AdS}}(-d\tilde{\eta}^2 + \cos^2\tilde{\eta}\,ds^2_{\text{AdS}_d}). \tag{4.21}$$

We would like to evaluate the sum of the spacelike and timelike surfaces connecting $\tau = \tau_0/2$ and $\tau = -\tau_0/2$. Let us first consider the spacelike surface emanating from $\tau = \tau_0/2$ and reaching $\eta = 0$. We regard a coordinate θ of \mathbb{S}^{d-2} as a time and take a time slice $\theta = 0$. Then the induced metric of the codimension-2 extremal surface $\tau = \tau(\eta)$ is

$$ds^{2} = R_{\text{AdS}}^{2} \left[(1 - \cosh^{2} \eta \, \tau'^{2}) d\eta^{2} + \cosh^{2} \eta \sin^{2} \tau \, ds_{\mathbb{H}^{d-2}}^{2} \right]$$
(4.22)

and the area is

$$R_{\rm AdS}^{d-1} \rm Vol(\mathbb{H}^{d-2}) \int_0^{\eta_{\infty}} d\eta \sqrt{1 - \cosh^2 \eta \, \tau'^2} \cosh^{d-2} \eta \sin^{d-2} \tau \tag{4.23}$$

The solution of the equation of motion with respect to $\tau(\eta)$ reads

$$\tau'' - (d-1)\sinh\eta\cosh\eta\,\tau'^3 - (d-2)\cot\tau\,\tau'^2 + d\tanh\eta\,\tau' + (d-2)\frac{\cot\tau}{\cosh^2\eta} = 0. \quad (4.24)$$

The solution with a boundary condition $\tau(\infty) = \tau_0/2$ is given by

$$\cos\tau = \cos\frac{\tau_0}{2}\tanh\eta. \tag{4.25}$$

Note that this surface reaches $\tau = \pi/2$ at $\eta = 0$. Also, we can check that this equation is equivalent to (4.13) by a coordinate transformation to the Poincare coordinate. The area of this surface is

$$R_{\rm AdS}^{d-1} {\rm Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2}) \int_0^{\eta_{\infty}} d\eta \sin \frac{\tau_0}{2} \left(1 - \cos^2 \frac{\tau_0}{2} \tanh^2 \eta\right)^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \cosh^{d-2} \eta \tag{4.26}$$

$$= R_{\text{AdS}}^{d-1} \text{Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2}) \int_0^{\sin\frac{\tau_0}{2} \sinh\eta_\infty} du (1+u^2)^{\frac{d-3}{2}}.$$
(4.27)

Introducing the cutoff $\sinh \eta_{\infty} \simeq \frac{1}{2}e^{\eta_{\infty}} \equiv \frac{1}{\epsilon}$ and identifying as $\sin \frac{\tau_0}{2} = T_0$, we can see that this area reproduces the real part of the result above (4.14).

Let us move on to the timelike surface. The induced metric of a surface $\tau = \tau(\tilde{\eta})$ on a slice $\theta = 0$ is given by

$$ds^{2} = R_{\rm AdS}^{2} \left[-(1 + \cos^{2} \tilde{\eta} \, \tau'^{2}) d\tilde{\eta}^{2} + \cos^{2} \tilde{\eta} \sin^{2} \tau \, ds_{\mathbb{H}^{d-2}}^{2} \right], \tag{4.28}$$

and the area functional is

$$iR_{\text{AdS}}^{d-1}\text{Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2})\int d\tilde{\eta}\sqrt{1+\cos^2\tilde{\eta}\,\tau'^2}\sin^{d-2}\tau\cos^{d-2}\tilde{\eta}.$$
(4.29)

In the same way as solving the spacelike one, we can find solutions to the equation of motion for this action:

$$\cos\tau = C\tan\tilde{\eta},\tag{4.30}$$

where C is an arbitrary constant that cannot be determined by boundary conditions. From the similar calculation to the spacelike case, we find that the area is

$$iR_{\text{AdS}}^{d-1}\text{Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2})\frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)},$$
(4.31)

which does not depend on the constant C. Thus we have derived the same result as the one obtained by the Wick rotation.

4.2 Strip subsystem

Next, let us consider a strip subsystem. First, we compute the timelike entanglement entropy by Wick rotation. Consider again the Poincaré $EAdS_{d+1}$ with a metric

$$ds^{2} = \frac{dz^{2} + dt_{\rm E}^{2} + dy^{2} + d\mathbf{x}^{2}}{z^{2}}.$$
(4.32)

We take a subsystem A as a strip $-T_0/2 < t_{\rm E} < T_0/2$ on the y = 0 surface. Furthermore, we take an IR cutoff L as the lengths of the remaining directions **x**. In this setup, the entanglement entropy of the dual CFT can be obtained as the extremal value of a functional

$$\frac{R_{\rm AdS}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}} L^{d-2} \int dz \frac{\sqrt{1 + t_{\rm E}'(z)^2}}{z^{d-1}}.$$
(4.33)

The solution of the Euler-Lagrange equation with a boundary condition $t_{\rm E}(0) = T_0/2$ is given by [2]

$$\pm t_{\rm E}(z) = \frac{z^d}{dz_*^{d-1}} {}_2F_1\left(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{d}{2(d-1)}, \frac{3d-2}{2d-2}, \left(\frac{z}{z_*}\right)^{2d-2}\right) - \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{d} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{3d-2}{2d-2}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{2d-1}{2d-2}\right)},\tag{4.34}$$

where $z = z_*$ is the tip of the surface satisfying $t'_{\rm E}(z_*) = 0$ and given by

$$z_* = \frac{T_0 \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2(d-1)}\right)}{2\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2(d-1)}\right)}.$$
(4.35)

Then the resulting EE becomes

$$S_A = \frac{R_{\text{AdS}}^{d-1}}{2(d-2)G_N^{(d+1)}} L^{d-2} \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon_{\text{AdS}}^{d-2}} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{2\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2(d-1)}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2(d-1)}\right)} \right)^{d-1} \frac{1}{T_0^{d-2}} \right].$$
 (4.36)

Let us perform the Wick rotation $t_{\rm E} = it$. Simultaneously, we also replace with $T_0 \to iT_0$, then the subsystem becomes $-T_0/2 < t < T_0/2$.

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{R_{\mathrm{AdS}}^{d-1}}{2(d-2)G_N^{(d+1)}} L^{d-2} \left[\frac{1}{\epsilon_{\mathrm{AdS}}^{d-2}} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{2\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2(d-1)}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2(d-1)}\right)} \right)^{d-1} \frac{(-i)^{d-2}}{T_0^{d-2}} \right].$$
 (4.37)

Note that the imaginary factor $(-i)^{d-2}$ is sensitive to dimensions and the term depends on the width of strip T_0 . These features are highly different from the spherical case and counterintuitive as we will see soon.

Unfortunately, in the strip case, we do not have a clear interpretation as the bulk extremal surface in the Lorentzian Poincaré AdS_{d+1}

$$ds^{2} = R_{\rm AdS}^{2} \frac{dz^{2} - dt^{2} + dy^{2} + d\mathbf{x}^{2}}{z^{2}},$$
(4.38)

for which the extremal surface are obtained by varying a functional

$$\frac{R_{\text{AdS}}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}} L^{d-2} \int_{\epsilon} dz \frac{\sqrt{1 - t'(z)^2}}{z^{d-1}}.$$
(4.39)

The Euler-Lagrange equation leads to

$$\frac{t'(z)}{z^{d-1}\sqrt{1-t'(z)^2}} = C,$$
(4.40)

where C is a real constant. The leading area term proportional to $\epsilon_{AdS}^{-(d-2)}$ can be reproduced because it does not depend on the integral constant C, in other words it is determined only from the information around the boundary z = 0. On the other hand, the sub-leading term of the area of (4.40) depends on C. As noted above, whether the sub-leading term is real or imaginary is sensitive to the dimension d, thus there seems to be no proper constant C that reproduces the result by Wick rotation since C should be real. One observation is that the imaginary part of (4.37) is reproduced by considering in the continued coordinate $z = i\tilde{z}$ and simultaneously performing $z_* = i\tilde{z}_*$. This is easily understood because this analytic continuation is equivalent to $T_0 \to iT_0$ through (4.35). This idea looks similar to the procedure in section 3.2, but we do not have a clear construction of this surface in the complexified geometry as we had there. However, if we follow a higher dimensional extension of the prescription shown in the end of section 3.2, we would obtain a different result because this assumes either timelike or spacelike extremal surfaces instead of the complexified surface. In this way, the comparison between the holographic timelike EE in higher dimensional CFTs and its field theoretic computation when the subsystem A is a strip, look non-trivial. We will leave better understandings of this for a future problem.

5 Holographic pseudo entropy in dS/CFT

In this section, we study the holographic properties of quantum entanglement in de Sitter spacetime and its relation to the timelike EE in AdS/CFT. The dS_{d+1}/CFT_d correspondence [24] is a conjecture for holographic duality between the quantum gravity on d + 1-dimensional de Sitter (dS_{d+1}) space

$$ds^2 = R_{\rm dS}^2 (-d\tau^2 + \cosh^2 \tau \, d\Omega_d^2), \tag{5.1}$$

where $d\Omega_d^2$ is the metric of the unit sphere \mathbb{S}^d and a *d*-dimensional Euclidean CFT defined on the future boundary ($\simeq \mathbb{S}^d$) of dS_{d+1} .

The dS/CFT dictionary analogous to the GKPW relation [66, 67] in AdS/CFT is given by

$$\Psi_{\rm dS}[\phi_0] = Z_{\rm CFT}[\phi_0]. \tag{5.2}$$

The left-hand side $\Psi_{dS}[\phi_0]$ is defined as a path integral over all fields ϕ on dS_{d+1} with fixing the boundary condition ϕ_0 at the future boundary:

$$\Psi_{\rm dS}[\phi_0] = \int_{\phi|_{\tau=\tau_\infty}=\phi_0} \mathcal{D}\phi \, e^{iI_{\rm dS}[\phi]} \Psi_{\rm in},\tag{5.3}$$

where $\Psi_{\rm in}$ denotes an initial state at t = 0. Throughout this paper we only focus on the Hartle-Hawking initial state [68], which is prepared by the path integral on a half of the Euclidean $dS_{d+1}(\simeq \mathbb{B}^3)$ given by the Wick rotation $\tau_{\rm E} = i\tau$:

$$ds^2 = R_{\rm dS}^2 (d\tau_{\rm E}^2 + \cos^2 \tau_{\rm E} \, d\Omega_d^2). \tag{5.4}$$

Therefore the geometry can be seen as the gluing of the Lorentzian dS_{d+1} and the Euclidean dS_{d+1} along $\tau = \tau_E = 0$ as depicted in figure 1. On the other hand, the right-hand side is a generating functional of correlation functions with ϕ_0 being sources. It is defined by the Euclidean path integral with the measure $\int \mathcal{D}\Phi e^{-I_{\text{CFT}}[\Phi]}$, where Φ is a collection of fields of the CFT. Due to the relative *i* factor in the exponential of the two path integrals in (5.2), we can predict that the dual CFT to dS may be non-unitary. Indeed, it is known that the central charge of the CFT_d dual to dS_{d+1} takes complex-valued [69]

$$c \sim (-i)^{d-1} \frac{R_{\rm dS}^{d-1}}{G_N^{(d+1)}}.$$
 (5.5)

This can be easily checked by using the relation of the AdS radius to the dS radius: $R_{AdS} = -iR_{dS}$. Therefore we can see that (at least when $d \neq 1 \mod 4$) the dual CFT is a non-unitary theory. For example, when d = 2 the Brown-Henneaux's formula [70]

$$c_{\rm AdS} = \frac{3R_{\rm AdS}}{2G_N} \tag{5.6}$$

gives the central charge of the dual CFT to dS_3

$$c = -i\frac{3R_{\rm dS}}{2G_N} = -ic_{\rm dS},\tag{5.7}$$

where we have defined $c_{\rm dS} \equiv 3R_{\rm dS}/2G_N$.

We would like to define the entanglement entropy in the dual CFT, which is defined on \mathbb{S}^d at the future $\tau = \tau_{\infty} \gg 1$ with a large radius $\cosh \tau_{\infty} \simeq \frac{1}{2}e^{\tau_{\infty}}$. We choose an arbitrary direction in \mathbb{S}^d as an imaginary time $t_{\rm E}$ and take a subsystem A on a time slice $t_{\rm E} = 0$. Note that the imaginary time $t_{\rm E}$ is different from the time τ in the global dS with the metric (5.1). A state on the time slice is prepared by path integral as usual. However, since the CFT is non-unitary, a ket state $|\Psi\rangle$ and a bra state $\langle\Psi|$, which are prepared by the path integrals of the past and future halves of \mathbb{S}^d with the same insertions of operators, are different in general, i.e. $\langle\Psi| \neq |\Psi\rangle^{\dagger}$. Therefore we should call the operator

$$o = |\Psi\rangle \langle \Psi| \tag{5.8}$$

as a transition matrix instead of density matrix following [35]. This discussion is similar to that for timelike entanglement entropy in section 2.2. For this reason, henceforth we call the quantity

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{P})} = -\operatorname{tr}[\rho_A \log \rho_A], \qquad \rho_A = \operatorname{tr}_{\bar{A}} \rho \tag{5.9}$$

as pseudo entropy. Thus in dS/CFT, we expect that the holographic relation analogous to holographic entanglement entropy in AdS/CFT holds for pseudo entropy, which can be imaginary-valued, rather than entanglement entropy.

5.1 Holographic pseudo entropy in dS_3/CFT_2

In this subsection we restrict ourselves to the three-dimensional dS space given by

$$ds^{2} = R_{\rm dS}^{2}(-d\tau^{2} + \cosh^{2}\tau(dt_{\rm E}^{2} + \cos^{2}t_{\rm E}d\theta^{2})), \qquad (\tau > 0)$$
(5.10)

with the Euclidean part corresponding to the initial state

$$ds^{2} = R_{\rm dS}^{2} (d\tau_{\rm E}^{2} + \cos^{2}\tau_{\rm E} (dt_{\rm E}^{2} + \cos^{2}t_{\rm E} d\theta^{2})), \quad (0 < \tau_{\rm E} < \pi).$$
(5.11)

On the boundary $\tau = \tau_{\infty}$, we take a subsystem A on a time slice $t_{\rm E} = 0$ as an arc of a region $-\phi_0/2 < \phi < \phi_0/2$. In this case, the pseudo entropy of the CFT dual to dS₃ is expected to dual to the geodesic length. However, there seems to be a problem that we cannot connect the two edges ∂A by a single geodesic because a geodesic emanating from an edge of A

should be timelike so that it cannot turn back to the other edge of A in the global dS. Indeed, if we naively apply the geodesic formula, the length takes an imaginary value

$$D = R_{\rm dS} \cos^{-1} (\cosh^2 \tau_{\infty} \cos \phi_0 - \sinh^2 \tau_{\infty})$$

$$\simeq R_{\rm dS} \cos^{-1} \left(-\frac{1}{2} e^{2\tau_{\infty}} \cos^2 \frac{\phi_0}{2} \right)$$

$$= \pi R_{\rm dS} - 2i R_{\rm dS} \log \left(e^{\tau_{\infty}} \cos \frac{\phi_0}{2} \right).$$
(5.12)

Hence this is not a geodesic in the usual sense. Nevertheless we can give an interpretation to this result as follows. Remember that we are considering the Hartle-Hawking wave functional, i.e. the gluing of dS₃ and the Euclidean dS₃ at $\tau = \tau_{\rm E} = 0$. In this geometry, we have one possibility that a timelike geodesic emanating from an edge of A goes through the Euclidean part of geometry and turns back to the other edge of A, as depicted in figure 23a. Let us assume this configuration and impose the "extremality" condition that both the real and imaginary parts of the length is extremized.

We fix the points that the two timelike curves from $\phi_0/2$ and $-\phi_0/2$ will attach at $\tau = 0$ as $\tilde{\phi}_1$ and $\tilde{\phi}_2$. First we consider the real part. The geodesic length of the Euclidean part is obtained by varying the length functional

$$R_{\rm dS} \int dt_{\rm E} \sqrt{1 + \cos^2 t_{\rm E} \left(\frac{d\phi(t_{\rm E})}{dt_{\rm E}}\right)^2} \tag{5.13}$$

with suitable boundary conditions. This is the same problem with varying (3.11) except for the absence of the overall i, so there is a condition

$$\tilde{\phi}_1 - \tilde{\phi}_2 = \pi \tag{5.14}$$

and the resulting length is

$$\pi R_{\rm dS}.\tag{5.15}$$

Therefore the geodesic takes the largest length in the hemisphere, depicted as a green line in figure 23a. Next we consider the imaginary part. The sum of geodesic length with fixing $\tilde{\phi}_1$ and $\tilde{\psi}_2$ is

$$\begin{split} R_{\rm dS} \cos^{-1} \left[\cosh \tau_{\infty} \cos \left(\frac{\phi_0}{2} - \tilde{\phi}_1 \right) \right] + \cosh^{-1} \left[\cosh \tau_{\infty} \cos \left(\frac{\phi_0}{2} + \tilde{\phi}_2 \right) \right] \\ \simeq i R_{\rm dS} \log \left[e^{2\tau_{\infty}} \cos \left(\frac{\phi_0}{2} - \tilde{\phi}_1 \right) \cos \left(\frac{\phi_0}{2} + \tilde{\phi}_2 \right) \right] \\ = i R_{\rm dS} \log \left[-\frac{1}{2} e^{2\tau_{\infty}} \left(\cos \phi_0 + \cos 2 \tilde{\phi}_1 \right) \right], \end{split}$$

where in the second equality we have used the condition (5.14). From the condition that the derivative with $\tilde{\phi}_1$ vanishes, we have $\sin 2\tilde{\phi}_1 = 0$, leading to

$$\tilde{\phi}_1 = \frac{\pi}{2}, \qquad \tilde{\phi}_2 = -\frac{\pi}{2}.$$
 (5.16)



Figure 23. The geodesic configuration whose length reproduces the pseudo entropy in the dual CFT. The red curve means the timelike geodesic, which contributes to the imaginary part of the pseudo entropy, and the green curve is the spacelike geodesic giving the real part, which goes through the boundary of the hemisphere \mathbb{B}^3 . The left panel (a) shows the global dS₃ and the right panel (b) shows the Poincaré dS₃, which is depicted as the blue region, embedded into the Penrose diagram of the global dS₃.

Then the contribution from the timelike geodesic reads

$$-2iR_{\rm dS}\log\left(e^{\tau_{\infty}}\sin\frac{\phi_0}{2}\right).\tag{5.17}$$

Thus the sum of (5.15) and (5.17) is identical to the naive calculation (5.12).

From the calculations above, the holographic pseudo entropy is

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{P})} = \frac{1}{4G_N} \left[-2iR_{\mathrm{dS}} \log\left(e^{\tau_{\infty}} \sin\frac{\phi_0}{2}\right) + \pi R_{\mathrm{dS}} \right]$$

$$= -i\frac{c_{\mathrm{dS}}}{3} \log\left(\frac{2\sin\frac{\phi_0}{2}}{\epsilon}\right) + \frac{\pi c_{\mathrm{dS}}}{6}, \quad (\epsilon \equiv 2e^{-\tau_{\infty}}), \qquad (5.18)$$

where $c_{\rm dS} \equiv 3R_{\rm dS}/2G_N$. Thus the pseudo entropy always takes a complex value.

Another observation from the result and the geodesic configuration in this subsection is the similarity with the timelike entanglement entropy in AdS/CFT we discussed in subsection 3.2. In the next subsection, we will elaborate the relation between the two notions.

Finally let us describe an interpretation of the result in the Poincare dS_3

$$ds^{2} = R_{\rm dS}^{2} \frac{-d\eta^{2} + dt_{\rm E}^{2} + dx^{2}}{\eta^{2}}.$$
(5.19)

In the Poincaré dS_3 , the geodesic configuration looks like the one depicted in figure 23b, where the blue region is the Poincaré patch embedded into the global dS_3 . In that figure, the timelike geodesics (green ones) satisfy

$$-\eta^2 + x^2 = \frac{T_0^2}{4},\tag{5.20}$$

whose area is

$$-2iR_{\rm dS}\log\frac{X_0}{\epsilon},\tag{5.21}$$

where we took a cutoff at $\eta = \epsilon$. The red line in figure 23b is spacelike and the length is

$$\pi R_{\rm dS}.\tag{5.22}$$

Therefore the sum of the lengths matches the global dS₃ calculation by identifying $X_0 = 2 \sin \frac{\phi_0}{2}$.

5.2 Relation to timelike entanglement entropy

In this subsection, we relate the pseudo entropy in dS/CFT to the timelike entanglement entropy in AdS/CFT. We will see that pseudo entropy for dS/CFT and timelike entanglement entropy in AdS/CFT can be regarded as the two different analytic continuations from the Euclidean AdS (EAdS).

Let us first consider the analytic continuation from $EAdS_3$ to dS_3 . For simplicity, we consider the Poincaré coordinates in $EAdS_3$

$$ds^{2} = R_{\rm AdS}^{2} \frac{dz^{2} + dt_{\rm E}^{2} + dx^{2}}{z^{2}}.$$
(5.23)

For later convenience, now we regard x as the time direction and take a subsystem A as an interval with length T_0 on the cutoff surface $z = \epsilon_{AdS}$. Of course, whether we take the subsystem as "temporal" or "spatial" is not essential in this phase because we are considering the Euclidean theory. The entanglement entropy for A is

$$S_A = \frac{c_{\text{AdS}}}{3} \log\left(\frac{T_0}{\epsilon_{\text{AdS}}}\right),\tag{5.24}$$

where c_{AdS} is the central charge of the CFT dual to EAdS and in the bulk language $c_{AdS} = 3R_{AdS}/2G_N$. The analytic continuation to dS is accomplished by Wick-rotating the radial coordinate z as

$$z = -i\eta \tag{5.25}$$

and simultaneously the radius as^8

$$R_{\rm AdS} = -iR_{\rm dS}.\tag{5.26}$$

Indeed, from these Wick rotations the metric (5.23) is continued to the metric of dS in Poincaré coordinate

$$ds^{2} = R_{\rm dS}^{2} \frac{-d\eta^{2} + dt_{\rm E}^{2} + dx^{2}}{\eta^{2}}.$$
(5.27)

⁸Note that this is a different convention from the one adopted in [27].



Figure 24. The analytic continuation of dS_3 to AdS_3 . This is accomplished by the double Wick rotation (5.34).

Let us take this analytic continuation for the entanglement entropy (5.24). The cutoff and the central charge are deformed as

$$\epsilon_{\rm AdS} = -i\epsilon_{\rm dS},\tag{5.28}$$

$$c_{\rm AdS} = \frac{3R_{\rm AdS}}{2G_N} = -i\frac{3R_{\rm dS}}{2G_N} \equiv -ic_{\rm dS}, \qquad (5.29)$$

then the pseudo entropy becomes

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{P})} = -i\frac{c_{\mathrm{dS}}}{3}\log\left(\frac{T_0}{\epsilon_{\mathrm{dS}}}\right) + \frac{\pi c_{\mathrm{dS}}}{6},\tag{5.30}$$

which is consistent with a result of [27]. Note that we choose the branch of the logarithmic function as taking the conventional principal value $-\pi < \arg z \leq \pi$.

Next we consider another analytic continuation which takes EAdS to the Lorentzian AdS. We adopt the usual Wick rotation

$$t_{\rm E} = it \tag{5.31}$$

and simultaneously replacing the parameter ${\cal T}_0$ with

$$T_0 \to iT_0. \tag{5.32}$$

In this case, the cutoff and the central charge do not change. Therefore we have

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c_{\mathrm{AdS}}}{3} \log\left(\frac{T_0}{\epsilon_{\mathrm{AdS}}}\right) + \frac{i\pi c_{\mathrm{AdS}}}{6}.$$
 (5.33)

Intuitively, we can interpret the relation between the two notions as connected by the "double Wick rotation"

$$\eta \to z = -i\eta, \qquad t_{\rm E} \to t = -it_{\rm E}.$$
 (5.34)

We can regard this as rotating the Penrose diagram by 90° (see figure 24) and the additional parts of the entropy as the effect of the boundary condition at the center of the diagram.

Next, we discuss in terms of the global coordinates. Since we are regarding $t_{\rm E}$ as a spatial coordinate, Let us start with the global dS₃ (5.10) with swapping $t_{\rm E}$ and θ :

$$ds^{2} = R_{\rm dS}^{2}(-d\tau^{2} + \cosh^{2}\tau(d\theta^{2} + \cos^{2}\theta dt_{\rm E}^{2})).$$
(5.35)

As discussed above, the holographic pseudo entropy for a subregion of $-T_0/2 < t_{\rm E} < T_0/2$ takes

$$S_A^{(P)} = -i\frac{c_{\rm dS}}{3}\log\left(\frac{2\sin\frac{T_0}{2}}{\epsilon_{\rm dS}}\right) + \frac{\pi c_{\rm dS}}{6},\tag{5.36}$$

where $\epsilon_{\rm dS} \equiv 2e^{-\tau_{\infty}}$. We perform the following analytic continuation

$$\rho = i\theta, \quad R_{\rm dS} = iR_{\rm AdS} \tag{5.37}$$

and replace $\tau \to \eta$ and $t_{\rm E} \to t$, then the metric becomes

$$ds^{2} = R_{\text{AdS}}^{2} (d\eta^{2} + \cosh^{2}\eta(-\cosh^{2}\rho dt^{2} + d\rho^{2})).$$
(5.38)

Correspondingly, we replace as $\epsilon_{\rm dS} \rightarrow \epsilon_{\rm AdS}, c_{\rm dS} \rightarrow i c_{\rm AdS}$ in (5.37), then

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{T})} = \frac{c_{\mathrm{AdS}}}{3} \log\left(\frac{2\sin\frac{T_0}{2}}{\epsilon_{\mathrm{AdS}}}\right) + \frac{i\pi c_{\mathrm{AdS}}}{6}$$
(5.39)

5.3 Higher dimensions

Let us move on to extension to higher dimensions. We consider the Poincaré dS_{d+1}

$$ds^{2} = R_{\rm dS}^{2} \frac{-d\eta^{2} + dt_{\rm E}^{2} + dy^{2} + d\mathbf{x}^{2}}{\eta^{2}}.$$
(5.40)

As in the previous subsection, we regard $t_{\rm E}$ as a spatial direction for later convenience. We take a subsystem A as a sphere with a radius $T_0/2$ on a slice y = 0. It is useful to introduce a radial coordinate $\xi \equiv \sqrt{t_{\rm E}^2 + \mathbf{x}^2}$, then the subsystem is defined by $\xi < T_0/2$.

Analogous to the three-dimensional case, we consider the timelike surface

$$-\eta^2 + \xi^2 = \frac{T_0^2}{4}.$$
 (5.41)

The area of this surface is

$$R_{\rm dS}^{d-1} {\rm Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \int_{\epsilon}^{\infty} d\eta \frac{\xi^{d-2}}{\eta^{d-1}} \sqrt{-1 + \xi'(\eta)^2} = i \frac{T_0}{2} R_{\rm dS}^{d-1} {\rm Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \int_{\epsilon}^{\infty} d\eta \frac{(\eta^2 + T_0^2/4)^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\eta^{d-1}} \quad (5.42)$$

$$= i R_{\rm dS}^{d-1} {\rm Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \int_{\frac{2\epsilon}{T_0}}^{\infty} du \frac{(u^2+1)^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{u^{d-1}}$$
(5.43)

The integral is identical to (4.14). Similarly, the real part is given by a geodesic

$$\eta^2 - \xi^2 = \frac{T_0^2}{4},\tag{5.44}$$

whose area is evaluated as

$$R_{\rm dS}^{d-1} \text{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \int_{1}^{\infty} d\eta \frac{(\eta^2 - 1)^{\frac{d-3}{2}}}{\eta^{d-1}} = R_{\rm dS}^{d-1} \text{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}$$
(5.45)

Therefore we have obtained the pseudo entropy

$$\begin{split} S_A^{(\mathrm{P})} &= \frac{R_{\mathrm{dS}}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}} \mathrm{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \\ &+ i \frac{R_{\mathrm{dS}}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}} \mathrm{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \begin{cases} \frac{\frac{d-3}{2}}{2} \left(\frac{d-3}{2}\right) \frac{1}{d-2k-2} \left(\frac{T_0}{2\epsilon}\right)^{d-2k-2} & (d:\mathrm{odd}) \\ \frac{\frac{d}{2}-2}{2} \left(\frac{d-3}{2}\right) \frac{1}{d-2k-2} \left(\frac{T_0}{2\epsilon}\right)^{d-2k-2} + \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{2} \log \frac{T_0}{d-2k-2} & (d:\mathrm{even}) \end{cases} \end{split}$$

$$\left(\sum_{k=0}^{2} \left(\frac{\frac{a-3}{2}}{k}\right) \frac{1}{d-2k-2} \left(\frac{T_0}{2\epsilon}\right)^{a-2k-2} + \frac{1\left(\frac{a-2}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \log \frac{T_0}{2\epsilon} \quad (d:\text{even})$$
(5.46)

We can easily check that this result is related to the timelike entanglement entropy (4.9) and (4.10) in AdS_{d+1}/CFT_d by an analytic continuation

$$R_{\rm dS} \to i R_{\rm AdS}, \quad \epsilon_{\rm dS} \to i \epsilon_{\rm AdS}, \quad T_0 \to i T_0, \quad {\rm Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \to (-i)^{d-2} {\rm Vol}(\mathbb{H}^{d-2}).$$
 (5.47)

Next, let us discuss the extremal surface in the global dS_{d+1} . The following discussion is parallel with that in section 3.2. As a generalization of (5.10), we consider dS_{d+1} with a metric

$$ds^{2} = R_{\rm dS}^{2} \left(-d\tau^{2} + \cosh^{2}\tau \left(dt_{\rm E}^{2} + \sin^{2}t_{\rm E} \, d\Omega_{d-1}^{2} \right) \right), \tag{5.48}$$

where $d\Omega_{d-1}^2$ denotes the metric of the unit sphere \mathbb{S}^{d-1} . We regard a coordinate θ of \mathbb{S}^{d-1} with $d\Omega_{d-1}^2 = d\theta^2 + \cos^2 \theta \, d\Omega_{d-2}$ as a time direction. As described above, this is glued with the Euclidean geometry with the metric

$$ds^{2} = R_{\rm dS}^{2} \left(d\tau_{\rm E}^{2} + \cos^{2} \tau_{\rm E} (dt_{\rm E}^{2} + \sin^{2} t_{\rm E} \, d\Omega_{d-1}^{2}) \right)$$
(5.49)

at $\tau = 0$.

First let us consider the Lorentzian part. We consider the codimension-2 surface given by $t_{\rm E} = t_{\rm E}(\tau)$ on $\theta = 0$. The induced metric for the surface is

$$ds^{2} = R_{\rm dS}^{2} \left[(-1 + \cosh^{2} \tau \, t_{\rm E}^{\prime 2}) d\tau^{2} + \cosh^{2} \tau \sin^{2} t_{\rm E} \, d\Omega_{d-2}^{2} \right].$$
(5.50)

Then the pseudo entropy is evaluated as the extremal value of a functional

$$\frac{R_{\rm dS}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}} \text{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \int d\tau \sqrt{-1 + \cosh^2 \tau \, t'_{\rm E}(\tau)^2} \cosh^{d-2} \tau \sin^{d-2} t_{\rm E}.$$
 (5.51)

In the same manner as section 4.1.3, we can obtain the solution of the Euler-Lagrange equation with a boundary condition $t_{\rm E}(\tau \to \infty) = T_0/2$:

$$\cos t_{\rm E} = \cos \frac{T_0}{2} \tanh \tau. \tag{5.52}$$

Note that for $\tau = \frac{\pi}{2}$, the surface ends on $t_{\rm E} = 0$. Inserting this solution, we can evaluate the contribution from the timelike surface

$$i\frac{R_{\rm dS}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}}\mathrm{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2})\int_0^{\sin\frac{T_0}{2}\sinh\tau_\infty} du(1+u^2)^{\frac{d-3}{2}} = i\frac{R_{\rm dS}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}}\mathrm{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2})$$
(5.53)

$$\int_{C} \int_{k=0}^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \left(\frac{d-3}{2}}{k}\right) \frac{1}{d-2k-2} \left(\frac{\sin\frac{T_0}{2}}{2\epsilon}\right)^{d-2k-2} \tag{d:odd}$$

$$\times \begin{cases} \frac{d}{2} - 2}{\sum_{k=0}^{d} \binom{d-3}{2}} \frac{1}{d - 2k - 2} \left(\frac{\sin \frac{T_0}{2}}{2\epsilon}\right)^{d - 2k - 2} + \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \log\left(\frac{\sin \frac{T_0}{2}}{\epsilon}\right) \quad (d: \text{even}) \end{cases}$$
(5.54)

Next we move on to the Euclidean part. The induced metric for a surface $t_{\rm E} = t_{\rm E}(\tau_{\rm E})$ defined on a $\theta = 0$ slice is

$$ds^{2} = R_{\rm dS}^{2} \left[\left(1 + \cos^{2} \tau_{\rm E} t_{\rm E}^{\prime 2} \right) d\tau_{\rm E}^{2} + \cos^{2} \tau_{\rm E} \sin^{2} t_{\rm E} d\Omega_{d-2}^{2} \right], \qquad (5.55)$$

so we would like to evaluate the extremal value of

$$\frac{R_{\rm dS}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}} \text{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \int d\tau_{\rm E} \sqrt{1 + \cos^2 \tau_{\rm E} t_{\rm E}^{\prime 2}} \cos^{d-2} \tau_{\rm E} \sin^{d-2} t_{\rm E}.$$
 (5.56)

Varying this integral, we obtain the solutions

$$\cos t_{\rm E} = C \tan \tau_{\rm E},\tag{5.57}$$

where C is an arbitrary constant. The contribution from these solutions is

$$\frac{R_{\rm dS}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}} {\rm Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)}.$$
(5.58)

Thus the holographic pseudo entropy have been obtained by

$$S_A^{(\mathrm{P})} = \frac{R_{\mathrm{dS}}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}} \mathrm{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} + i \frac{R_{\mathrm{dS}}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}} \mathrm{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2})$$
(5.59)

$$\times \begin{cases} \sum_{k=0}^{\frac{d-3}{2}} {\binom{d-3}{2} \choose k} \frac{1}{d-2k-2} \left(\frac{\sin \frac{T_0}{2}}{2\epsilon} \right)^{d-2k-2} \\ d = 0 \end{cases} \qquad (d: \text{odd})$$

$$\left(\sum_{k=0}^{\frac{a}{2}-2} {\binom{d-3}{2}}{k} \frac{1}{d-2k-2} \left(\frac{\sin\frac{T_0}{2}}{2\epsilon}\right)^{d-2k-2} + \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \log\left(\frac{\sin\frac{T_0}{2}}{\epsilon}\right) \quad (d:\text{even})$$
(5.60)

which can be regarded as a generalization of the three-dimensional case (5.18).

Here we make a comment on a proposed holographic calculation of EE [30, 31] in dS_4/CFT_3 , in which a concrete example is known; a duality between a higher-spin gravity

on dS₄ and large N Sp(N) vector model [25]. The authors of [30, 31] claimed that the leading term of the holographic entanglement entropy in dS_{d+1}/CFT_d has an overall factor $(-i)^{d-1}$, so that the entanglement entropy takes real-valued when d = 3. For example, the leading area term takes the form

$$\frac{R_{\rm dS}^2}{4G_N^{(4)}} \frac{{\rm Vol}(\mathbb{S}^1)}{\epsilon} \tag{5.61}$$

One might think that this is not consistent with our calculation, in which the leading term always takes imaginary-valued. However, this is actually consistent with the imaginary part of our calculation. To see this, we have to be careful for definition of the cutoff ϵ . As noted above, the cutoffs in AdS and dS are related by $\epsilon_{AdS} = -i\epsilon_{dS}$. In fact, the cutoff ϵ in (5.61) is the one defined in AdS, i.e. ϵ_{AdS} . Therefore if we rewrite (5.61) by using ϵ_{dS} , then the result is imaginary and consistent with the leading term of our calculation.

On the other hand, the real part in (5.46) is a new ingredient of our calculation. We can see that the real part

$$\frac{R_{\rm dS}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+1)}} \operatorname{Vol}(\mathbb{S}^{d-2}) \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)}{2\Gamma\left(\frac{d}{2}\right)} \tag{5.62}$$

is identical to a half of the de Sitter entropy in dS_{d+1} .

6 Conclusions and discussions

In this paper we introduced a new quantity called timelike entanglement entropy (EE) and studied its properties from both the field theoretic and the holographic viewpoint. The timelike EE $S_A^{(T)}$ is defined by changing a spacelike subsystem A into a timelike one. This is also equivalent to flipping the role of the time and space coordinates. We present analytical expressions of timelike EE in two dimensional CFTs based on both the replica method analysis and the numerical computation in free field theories. This quantity has a universal imaginary part and can be regarded as a special example of pseudo entropy.

Next we considered a holographic calculation of timelike EE by extending the holographic entanglement entropy. Through calculations of holographic timelike EE in the basic examples of pure AdS₃ and BTZ, we propose the following definition for the holographic timelike entanglement entropy. Given a timelike boundary region A we consider the union of timelike and spacelike extremal surfaces which form a single simply connected surface which is homologous to A. We call such a surface a "path" and the collection of all such paths { Γ_A }. Over this space we vary the joining points and keep only those paths which are stationary with respect to this variation { Γ_A^s }. In general, these paths include timelike geodesics which produce the imaginary part of timelike EE. This implies that the time coordinate emerges from the imaginary part of the timelike EE (or pseudo entropy) generalizing the familiar idea that the space coordinate emerges from the entanglement entropy. In the examples of section 3 we did not construct all possible paths. Instead, only those paths were considered which allowed for the imaginary part to be maximal which matched the expectation coming from the boundary calculation via Wick rotation. This essentially forced the joining parts to lie as far to past or future as possible such that they occurred on horizons or singularities. In order for the answers to agree this was essentially necessary. It is possible that more care will be needed in defining the correct set of paths to optimize with respect to. It is possible that a generalization of the 'Hartle-Hawking' like geometry shown in figure 9, which provided the specific locations of joining points of paths in global AdS_3 , may provide additional insight.

Also in principle there may be multiple stationary paths with different complex valued areas in which case it is necessary to distinguish between them in order to correctly determine the path that corresponds to the timelike entanglement entropy. This already happened for the two party timelike entanglement entropies which exhibit a similar connected/disconnected transition compared with their spacelike counterparts. However, when considering the timelike mutual information for the examples presented we found it as defined to always be entirely real. As such for this specific situation it seems natural to select the saddle for which the timelike mutual information is maximized. This is however a prescription highly specific to the setups considered. One would desire a set of concrete rules to distinguish between stationary paths of different complex valued area. Presumably such a general prescription for multiple saddles will include some comparison of the relative magnitudes of the imaginary and real components of the areas of these saddles. At the present we are agnostic as to what the correct prescription is, additional explicit examples which include multiple saddles are needed to make further progress.⁹ We leave such explorations to future work.

For the shock wave geometry and local operator quench we found the surprising result that the timelike entanglement entropy of a single region on one boundary is dependent on the shock wave and is capable of probing beyond the horizon. This conclusion was confirmed by explicit CFT calculations which implement the careful Wick rotation of the boundary CFT. This demonstrates that to determine the timelike entanglement entropy it is generally incorrect to simply analytically continue the entanglement entropy and more care must be taken. As a consequence the timelike entanglement entropy could play a larger role in our understanding of black hole information and the interior and the emergence of spacetime geometry from entanglement.

We also studied a higher dimensional generalization of holographic timelike EE. This is straightforward for hyperbolic subsystems. However, the holographic calculation turned out to be very non-trivial for strip shaped subsystems, where a naive analytic continuation of the holographic result from the spacelike subsystem to timelike one is difficult to understand from the extremal surface viewpoint. We leave a better understanding of this issue for a future problem.

⁹See for example [22] which appeared while this paper was in preparation. Given multiple stationary paths the authors suggest that only those with the smallest imaginary component should be considered and among these the one of smallest real component selected. At present it is not clear to us that their or our examples can fully distinguish between this or other possible proposals.

Finally we also found that if we apply the idea of holographic EE to the dS/CFT, we obtain a complex-valued entropy as the extremal surface consisting of both timelike and spacelike pieces. This looks analogous to the holographic timelike EE, though the imaginary part is universal in the latter, while it is not in dS/CFT. We argued that this complex-valued entropy can also be properly understood as the pseudo entropy. We also pointed out that the holographic pseudo entropy in dS/CFT is related to the holographic timelike EE in AdS/CFT via a double Wick rotation. Furthermore, we found that the real part of the holographic pseudo entropy can be interpreted as a half of the dS entropy in any dimensions. Recently, it was argued [71] using algebraic considerations that the dS entropy has the maximal entropy. Although their definition of entropy is distinct from ours, relating these discussions to that of pseudo entropy is an interesting direction for possible future work.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Xi Dong, Daniel Harlow, Patrick Hayden, Juan Maldacena and Jonathan Oppenheim for useful comments on pseudo entropy and timelike entanglement entropy. This work is supported by the Simons Foundation through the "It from Qubit" collaboration and by MEXT KAKENHI Grant-in-Aid for Transformative Research Areas (A) through the "Extreme Universe" collaboration: Grant Number 21H05187. This work is also supported by Inamori Research Institute for Science and by JSPS Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (A) No. 21H04469. Y. T. is supported by Grant-in-Aid for JSPS Fellows No. 22J21950. TT would like to thank the 2022 Simons Collaboration on It from Qubit Annual Meeting where a part of the present work was presented. Some of the numerical calculations were carried out on Yukawa-21 at YITP in Kyoto University.

A Calculation of thermofield mutual information for holographic CFTs

In this appendix we derive the thermofield mutual information for a 2d holographic CFT. For a thermal state of inverse temperature β the boundary manifold is a cylinder of radius β . We consider two intervals $A = [u_a, v_a]$ and $B = [u_b, v_b]$ with

$$u_A = a, \quad v_A = b, \quad u_B = c + \frac{i\beta}{2}, \quad v_B = d + \frac{i\beta}{2}, \quad a < b, \quad c < d$$
 (A.1)

this has the effect of placing the interval B on the opposite side of the cylinder. Such a set up corresponds to placing one interval on each of the boundaries of the dual bulk geometry which is the BTZ black hole [60].

The thermofield mutual information can be calculated using the replica method where twist operators σ_{\pm} are inserted at the end points of boundary regions. Note the twist operators must be inserted with opposite ordering on one side due to the opposing time orientation of the two boundaries (see e.g. [60, 72]). The correct prescription is shown in figure 25.



Figure 25. The boundary manifold with twist operator insertions for the calculation of $\operatorname{tr}(\rho_{AB}^n)$. The two intervals are placed a distance $\frac{\beta}{2}$ apart in euclidean time. This corresponds to one interval being located on each of the two boundaries of the BTZ black hole. Because the time runs in opposite directions on the two boundaries the correct prescription requires that the twist operators σ_{\pm} be placed in the opposite orientation on one side.

The thermofield mutual information is defined as the mutual information for these regions and is written in terms of the twist operators as

$$J_{AB} = \lim_{n \to 1} \frac{1}{1 - n} \log \left[\frac{\operatorname{tr}(\rho_A^n) \operatorname{tr}(\rho_B^n)}{\operatorname{tr}(\rho_{AB}^n)} \right]$$

$$= \lim_{n \to 1} \frac{1}{1 - n} \log \left[\frac{\langle \sigma_n^+(u_A) \sigma_n^-(v_A) \rangle_\beta \langle \sigma_n^+(u_B) \sigma_n^-(v_B) \rangle_\beta}{\langle \sigma_n^+(u_A) \sigma_n^-(v_A) \sigma_n^-(u_B) \sigma_n^+(v_B) \rangle_\beta} \right]$$
(A.2)

where n is the number of replicas which we will analytically continued and then take to be one. To start we consider the two point functions which are entirely fixed by conformal symmetry and given by

$$\langle \sigma_n^+(u_i)\sigma_n^-(v_i)\rangle_\beta = \left|\frac{\pi\epsilon}{\beta S_{u_iv_i}}\right|^{2\Delta_n}.$$
 (A.3)

Here the conformal dimension Δ_n of the twist operators is given by

$$\Delta_n = \frac{c}{12} \frac{(n-1)(n+1)}{n}$$
(A.4)

and for convenience we have defined

$$S_{ij} = \sinh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}(i-j)\right), \quad C_{ij} = \cosh\left(\frac{\pi}{\beta}.(i-j)\right).$$
 (A.5)

It is also necessary to consider the 4-point function

$$\langle \sigma_n^+(u_A)\sigma_n^-(v_A)\sigma_n^-(u_B)\sigma_n^+(v_B)\rangle_\beta \tag{A.6}$$

We make use the conformal map $z = e^{\frac{2\pi w}{\beta}}$ which maps the cylinder to the plane

$$\left(\frac{2\pi\epsilon}{\beta}\right)^4 e^{\frac{2\pi}{\beta}(u_A+v_A+u_B+v_B)} \bigg|^{\Delta_n} \left\langle \sigma_n^+ \left(e^{\frac{2\pi}{\beta}u_A}\right) \sigma_n^- \left(e^{\frac{2\pi}{\beta}v_A}\right) \sigma_n^- \left(e^{\frac{2\pi}{\beta}u_B}\right) \sigma_n^+ \left(e^{\frac{2\pi}{\beta}v_B}\right) \right\rangle$$
(A.7)

where for a function $f(\phi)$ correlation functions of primary operators transform as

$$\langle \Phi(f(\phi_1))\cdots\Phi(f(\phi_n))\rangle = \prod_j^n |f'(\phi_j)|^{-\Delta_j} \langle \Phi(\phi_1)\cdots\Phi(\phi_n)\rangle.$$
(A.8)

In order to evaluate the 4-point function

$$\langle \sigma_n^+(z_1)\sigma_n^-(z_2)\sigma_n^-(z_3)\sigma_n^+(z_4)\rangle \tag{A.9}$$

we need the twist operators to take the usual ordering. We make use of the Mobius transformation

$$q(z) = \frac{(z - z_1)(z_4 - z_3)}{(z - z_3)(z_4 - z_1)}$$
(A.10)

which maps $z_1 \to 0$, $z_3 \to \infty$, $z_4 \to 1$. z_2 determines the cross-ratio x which is real with $0 \le x \le 1$ and given by

$$x_{s} = x = \frac{S_{ba}S_{dc}}{C_{da}C_{cb}}, \quad x_{t} = 1 - x = \frac{C_{ca}C_{db}}{C_{da}C_{cb}}, \quad \frac{x}{1 - x} = \frac{S_{ba}S_{dc}}{C_{ca}C_{db}}.$$
 (A.11)

Using conformal symmetry the 4-point functions are related by [73]

$$\langle \sigma_n^+(z_1)\sigma_n^-(z_2)\sigma_n^-(z_3)\sigma_n^+(z_4)\rangle = \left|\frac{x(x-1)}{z_{21}z_{43}z_{41}z_{32}z_{31}z_{42}}\right|^{\frac{4\Delta_n}{3}} \langle \sigma_n^+(q_1)\sigma_n^-(q_2)\sigma_n^+(q_3)\sigma_n^-(q_4)\rangle.$$
(A.12)

This 4-point function is now in the standard form and for the large c holographic limit can be expanded in vacuum conformal blocks [61] $f_0(x)$

$$\langle \sigma_n^+(q_1)\sigma_n^-(q_2)\sigma_n^+(q_3)\sigma_n^-(q_4)\rangle \sim c_n^2 e^{-\frac{c}{6}f_0(x)-\frac{c}{6}f_0(\bar{x})}$$
 (A.13)

where $c_n^2 \to 1$ as $n \to 1$. There are two ways f_0 can be expanded corresponding to the s and t channels where to leading order f_0 is given by

$$f_0(x) = \begin{cases} (n-1)\log(x), & s\text{-channel} \\ (n-1)\log(1-x), & t\text{-channel.} \end{cases}$$
(A.14)

Altogether the full 4-point function can be written as

$$\langle \sigma_n^+(u_A)\sigma_n^-(v_A)\sigma_n^-(u_B)\sigma_n^+(v_B)\rangle_{\beta} = \left(\frac{\pi\epsilon}{\beta}\right)^{4\Delta_n} c_n^2 \left|\frac{1}{C_{da}C_{cb}}\right|^{2\Delta_n} x_{s,t}^{-(n-1)\frac{c}{3}}.$$
 (A.15)

We are now prepared to calculate the thermofield mutual information. Gathering the pieces we have

$$J_{AB} = \lim_{n \to 1} \frac{1}{1 - n} \log \left[\frac{x_{s,t}^{(n-1)\frac{c}{3}}}{c_n^2} \left| \frac{C_{da}C_{cb}}{S_{ba}S_{dc}} \right|^{2\Delta_n} \right]$$

$$= \frac{c}{3} \log \left[\frac{1}{x_{s,t}} \left(\frac{S_{ba}S_{dc}}{C_{da}C_{cb}} \right) \right]$$
(A.16)

so that

$$J_{AB} = \frac{c}{3} \max\left(0, \log\left[\frac{S_{ba}S_{dc}}{C_{ca}C_{db}}\right]\right)$$
(A.17)

as required.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. SCOAP³ supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

References

- J.M. Maldacena, The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, Holographic derivation of entanglement entropy from AdS/CFT, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 181602 [hep-th/0603001] [INSPIRE].
- [3] S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, Aspects of Holographic Entanglement Entropy, JHEP 08 (2006) 045 [hep-th/0605073] [INSPIRE].
- [4] V.E. Hubeny, M. Rangamani and T. Takayanagi, A Covariant holographic entanglement entropy proposal, JHEP 07 (2007) 062 [arXiv:0705.0016] [INSPIRE].
- [5] B. Swingle, Entanglement Renormalization and Holography, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 065007 [arXiv:0905.1317] [INSPIRE].
- [6] M. Van Raamsdonk, Building up spacetime with quantum entanglement, Gen. Rel. Grav. 42 (2010) 2323 [arXiv:1005.3035] [INSPIRE].
- [7] A.J. Leggett and A. Garg, Quantum mechanics versus macroscopic realism: Is the flux there when nobody looks?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 54 (1985) 857 [INSPIRE].
- [8] J. Fitzsimons, J. Jones and V. Vedral, *Quantum correlations which imply causation*, arXiv:1302.2731 [INSPIRE].
- [9] S.J. Olson and T.C. Ralph, Extraction of timelike entanglement from the quantum vacuum, Phys. Rev. A 85 (2012) 012306 [arXiv:1101.2565] [INSPIRE].
- [10] J. Cotler, C.-M. Jian, X.-L. Qi and F. Wilczek, Superdensity Operators for Spacetime Quantum Mechanics, JHEP 09 (2018) 093 [arXiv:1711.03119] [INSPIRE].
- [11] J. Cotler et al., Quantum Virtual Cooling, Phys. Rev. X 9 (2019) 031013
 [arXiv:1812.02175] [INSPIRE].
- [12] A. Lerose, M. Sonner and D.A. Abanin, Scaling of temporal entanglement in proximity to integrability, Phys. Rev. B 104 (2021) 035137 [arXiv:2104.07607] [INSPIRE].
- [13] G. Giudice et al., Temporal Entanglement, Quasiparticles, and the Role of Interactions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 220401 [arXiv:2112.14264] [INSPIRE].
- [14] A. Foligno, T. Zhou and B. Bertini, Temporal Entanglement in Chaotic Quantum Circuits, arXiv:2302.08502 [INSPIRE].
- [15] A.J. Parzygnat and J. Fullwood, From time-reversal symmetry to quantum Bayes' rules, arXiv:2212.08088 [INSPIRE].
- [16] K. Doi, J. Harper, A. Mollabashi, T. Takayanagi and Y. Taki, Pseudoentropy in dS/CFT and Timelike Entanglement Entropy, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 031601 [arXiv:2210.09457] [INSPIRE].
- [17] B. Liu, H. Chen and B. Lian, Entanglement Entropy in Timelike Slices: a Free Fermion Study, arXiv:2210.03134 [INSPIRE].

- [18] K. Narayan, de Sitter space, extremal surfaces and "time-entanglement", arXiv:2210.12963 [INSPIRE].
- [19] P. Wang, H. Wu and H. Yang, Fix the dual geometries of TT deformed CFT₂ and highly excited states of CFT₂, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 1117 [arXiv:1811.07758] [INSPIRE].
- [20] N.L. Diaz, J.M. Matera and R. Rossignoli, *Path Integrals from Spacetime Quantum Actions*, arXiv:2111.05383 [INSPIRE].
- [21] K.S. Reddy, A timelike entangled island at the initial singularity in a JT FLRW ($\Lambda > 0$) universe, arXiv:2211.14893 [INSPIRE].
- [22] Z. Li, Z.-Q. Xiao and R.-Q. Yang, On holographic time-like entanglement entropy, JHEP 04 (2023) 004 [arXiv:2211.14883] [INSPIRE].
- [23] X. Jiang, P. Wang, H. Wu and H. Yang, Timelike entanglement entropy and TT deformation, arXiv: 2302.13872 [INSPIRE].
- [24] A. Strominger, The dS / CFT correspondence, JHEP 10 (2001) 034 [hep-th/0106113] [INSPIRE].
- [25] D. Anninos, T. Hartman and A. Strominger, Higher Spin Realization of the dS/CFT Correspondence, Class. Quant. Grav. 34 (2017) 015009 [arXiv:1108.5735] [INSPIRE].
- [26] Y. Hikida, T. Nishioka, T. Takayanagi and Y. Taki, Holography in de Sitter Space via Chern-Simons Gauge Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 (2022) 041601 [arXiv:2110.03197] [INSPIRE].
- [27] Y. Hikida, T. Nishioka, T. Takayanagi and Y. Taki, CFT duals of three-dimensional de Sitter gravity, JHEP 05 (2022) 129 [arXiv:2203.02852] [INSPIRE].
- [28] J. Maldacena, G.J. Turiaci and Z. Yang, Two dimensional Nearly de Sitter gravity, JHEP 01 (2021) 139 [arXiv:1904.01911] [INSPIRE].
- [29] J. Cotler, K. Jensen and A. Maloney, Low-dimensional de Sitter quantum gravity, JHEP 06 (2020) 048 [arXiv:1905.03780] [INSPIRE].
- [30] K. Narayan, Extremal surfaces in de Sitter spacetime, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 126011
 [arXiv:1501.03019] [INSPIRE].
- [31] Y. Sato, Comments on Entanglement Entropy in the dS/CFT Correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 086009 [arXiv:1501.04903] [INSPIRE].
- [32] M. Miyaji and T. Takayanagi, Surface/State Correspondence as a Generalized Holography, PTEP 2015 (2015) 073B03 [arXiv:1503.03542] [INSPIRE].
- [33] K. Narayan, On extremal surfaces and de Sitter entropy, Phys. Lett. B 779 (2018) 214
 [arXiv:1711.01107] [INSPIRE].
- [34] K. Narayan, de Sitter future-past extremal surfaces and the entanglement wedge, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 086014 [arXiv:2002.11950] [INSPIRE].
- [35] Y. Nakata, T. Takayanagi, Y. Taki, K. Tamaoka and Z. Wei, New holographic generalization of entanglement entropy, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 026005 [arXiv:2005.13801] [INSPIRE].
- [36] A. Mollabashi, N. Shiba, T. Takayanagi, K. Tamaoka and Z. Wei, Pseudo Entropy in Free Quantum Field Theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 (2021) 081601 [arXiv:2011.09648] [INSPIRE].
- [37] G. Camilo and A. Prudenziati, Twist operators and pseudo entropies in two-dimensional momentum space, arXiv:2101.02093 [INSPIRE].

- [38] A. Mollabashi, N. Shiba, T. Takayanagi, K. Tamaoka and Z. Wei, Aspects of pseudoentropy in field theories, Phys. Rev. Res. 3 (2021) 033254 [arXiv:2106.03118] [INSPIRE].
- [39] T. Nishioka, T. Takayanagi and Y. Taki, *Topological pseudo entropy*, *JHEP* **09** (2021) 015 [arXiv:2107.01797] [INSPIRE].
- [40] K. Goto, M. Nozaki and K. Tamaoka, Subregion spectrum form factor via pseudoentropy, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) L121902 [arXiv:2109.00372] [INSPIRE].
- [41] M. Miyaji, Island for gravitationally prepared state and pseudo entanglement wedge, JHEP 12 (2021) 013 [arXiv:2109.03830] [INSPIRE].
- [42] I. Akal, T. Kawamoto, S.-M. Ruan, T. Takayanagi and Z. Wei, Page curve under final state projection, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 126026 [arXiv:2112.08433] [INSPIRE].
- [43] M. Berkooz, N. Brukner, S.F. Ross and M. Watanabe, Going beyond ER=EPR in the SYK model, JHEP 08 (2022) 051 [arXiv:2202.11381] [INSPIRE].
- [44] I. Akal, T. Kawamoto, S.-M. Ruan, T. Takayanagi and Z. Wei, Zoo of holographic moving mirrors, JHEP 08 (2022) 296 [arXiv:2205.02663] [INSPIRE].
- [45] T. Mori, H. Manabe and H. Matsueda, Entanglement distillation toward minimal bond cut surface in tensor networks, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 086008 [arXiv:2205.06633] [INSPIRE].
- [46] J. Mukherjee, Pseudo Entropy in U(1) gauge theory, JHEP 10 (2022) 016
 [arXiv:2205.08179] [INSPIRE].
- [47] W.-z. Guo, S. He and Y.-X. Zhang, On the real-time evolution of pseudo-entropy in 2d CFTs, JHEP 09 (2022) 094 [arXiv:2206.11818] [INSPIRE].
- [48] Y. Ishiyama, R. Kojima, S. Matsui and K. Tamaoka, Notes on pseudo entropy amplification, PTEP 2022 (2022) 093B10 [arXiv:2206.14551] [INSPIRE].
- [49] M. Miyaji and C. Murdia, Holographic BCFT with a Defect on the End-of-the-World brane, JHEP 11 (2022) 123 [arXiv:2208.13783] [INSPIRE].
- [50] A. Bhattacharya, A. Bhattacharyya and S. Maulik, Pseudocomplexity of purification for free scalar field theories, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 086010 [arXiv:2209.00049] [INSPIRE].
- [51] W.-z. Guo, S. He and Y.-X. Zhang, Constructible reality condition of pseudo entropy via pseudo-Hermiticity, arXiv:2209.07308 [INSPIRE].
- [52] S. He, J. Yang, Y.-X. Zhang and Z.-X. Zhao, Pseudo-entropy for descendant operators in two-dimensional conformal field theories, arXiv:2301.04891 [INSPIRE].
- [53] P. Calabrese and J.L. Cardy, Entanglement entropy and quantum field theory, J. Stat. Mech. 0406 (2004) P06002 [hep-th/0405152] [INSPIRE].
- [54] J. Cotler and A. Strominger, Cosmic ER=EPR in dS/CFT, arXiv:2302.00632 [INSPIRE].
- [55] T. Azeyanagi, T. Nishioka and T. Takayanagi, Near Extremal Black Hole Entropy as Entanglement Entropy via AdS(2)/CFT(1), Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 064005
 [arXiv:0710.2956] [INSPIRE].
- [56] H. Casini and M. Huerta, Entanglement entropy in free quantum field theory, J. Phys. A 42 (2009) 504007 [arXiv:0905.2562] [INSPIRE].
- [57] I. Peschel and V. Eisler, Reduced density matrices and entanglement entropy in free lattice models, J. Phys. A 42 (2009) 504003 [arXiv:0906.1663].

- [58] M. Headrick, Entanglement Renyi entropies in holographic theories, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 126010 [arXiv:1006.0047] [INSPIRE].
- [59] M. Rangamani and T. Takayanagi, Holographic Entanglement Entropy, Lect. Notes Phys. 931 (2017) 1.
- [60] I.A. Morrison and M.M. Roberts, Mutual information between thermo-field doubles and disconnected holographic boundaries, JHEP 07 (2013) 081 [arXiv:1211.2887] [INSPIRE].
- [61] T. Hartman, Entanglement Entropy at Large Central Charge, arXiv:1303.6955 [INSPIRE].
- [62] T. Hartman and J. Maldacena, Time Evolution of Entanglement Entropy from Black Hole Interiors, JHEP 05 (2013) 014 [arXiv:1303.1080] [INSPIRE].
- [63] S.H. Shenker and D. Stanford, Black holes and the butterfly effect, JHEP 03 (2014) 067 [arXiv:1306.0622] [INSPIRE].
- [64] P. Caputa, J. Simón, A. Štikonas, T. Takayanagi and K. Watanabe, Scrambling time from local perturbations of the eternal BTZ black hole, JHEP 08 (2015) 011 [arXiv:1503.08161] [INSPIRE].
- [65] C.T. Asplund, A. Bernamonti, F. Galli and T. Hartman, Holographic Entanglement Entropy from 2d CFT: Heavy States and Local Quenches, JHEP 02 (2015) 171 [arXiv:1410.1392] [INSPIRE].
- [66] S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory, Phys. Lett. B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109] [INSPIRE].
- [67] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253
 [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].
- [68] J.B. Hartle and S.W. Hawking, Wave Function of the Universe, Phys. Rev. D 28 (1983) 2960 [INSPIRE].
- [69] J.M. Maldacena, Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models, JHEP 05 (2003) 013 [astro-ph/0210603] [INSPIRE].
- [70] J.D. Brown and M. Henneaux, Central Charges in the Canonical Realization of Asymptotic Symmetries: An Example from Three-Dimensional Gravity, Commun. Math. Phys. 104 (1986) 207 [INSPIRE].
- [71] V. Chandrasekaran, R. Longo, G. Penington and E. Witten, An algebra of observables for de Sitter space, JHEP 02 (2023) 082 [arXiv:2206.10780] [INSPIRE].
- [72] P. Caputa, J. Simón, A. Štikonas, T. Takayanagi and K. Watanabe, Scrambling time from local perturbations of the eternal BTZ black hole, JHEP 08 (2015) 011 [arXiv:1503.08161]
 [INSPIRE].
- [73] Y. Kusuki and T. Takayanagi, Renyi entropy for local quenches in 2D CFT from numerical conformal blocks, JHEP 01 (2018) 115 [arXiv:1711.09913] [INSPIRE].